
 

 

 
 

 
 
Licensing Committee 
Agenda 
 

 
Wyre Borough Council 

Date of Publication: 21 March 2023 
Please ask for: George Ratcliffe 

Assistant Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 01253 887608  

 
Licensing Committee meeting on Tuesday, 28 March 2023 at 6.00 pm 
in the Council Chamber - Civic Centre, Poulton-le-Fylde 
  

1.   Apologies 
 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 Members will disclose any pecuniary and any other significant interests 
they may have in relation to the matters under consideration. 
 

 

 
3.   Confirmation of minutes 

 
(Pages 3 - 6) 

 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Licensing Committee held on 21 February 2023. 
 

 

 
4.   Unmet Demand Survey 

 
(Pages 7 - 88) 

 Report submitted Corporate Director Environment.  
  
Additional documents submitted by Ian Millership of LVSA.   
 

 

 
5.   Temporary Event Notice - Lancashire College Of Agriculture, St 

Michaels Road, Bilsborrow on 24th and 25th June 2023 
 

(Pages 89 - 
134) 

 Report of Corporate Director Environment. 
 

 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Licensing Committee Minutes  
 
The minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting of Wyre Borough Council held on 
Tuesday, 21 February 2023 at the Council Chamber - Civic Centre, Poulton-le-Fylde. 
 
 
Licensing Committee members present: 
Councillors Ballard, Baxter, Beavers, C Birch, Cartridge, P Ellison, Leech, A Turner and 
S Turner 
 
Apologies for absence: 
Councillors George, Smith and A Vincent 
 
Failed to attend or tender apologies for absence 
Councillors Matthew Vincent and Williams 
 
Other councillors present: 
None. 
 
Officers present: 
Mary Grimshaw, Legal Services Manager and Monitoring Officer 
Daphne Courtenage, Democratic Services Officer (Temporary) 
Mandy Seddon, Manager of Food Health and Safety and Licensing 
Wayne Clarke, Senior Compliance Officer 
 
No members of the public or press attended the meeting. 
 
  
13 Declarations of Interest  

 
None. 
  

14 Confirmation of minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Licensing Committee held on 17 January 
2023 were confirmed as a correct record. 
  

15 Exclusion of the public and press  
 
In accordance with Paragraph 11 of the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 
of the Council’s Constitution, the Chief Executive had determined that the 
reports submitted under item 5 of the agenda were “Not for Publication” 
because they contained “exempt information”, as defined in Schedule 12A of 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

the Local Government Act 1972.  
  
The Committee passed the following resolution: “That the public and press be 
excluded from the meeting whilst agenda item 5 was being considered, as 
they referred to exempt information as defined in category 1 (information 
relating to any individual) of Part 1 of Schedule 12(a) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Variation Order 2006 and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighed the public interest in disclosing the information”. 
  
The Chair also asked the committee if they were comfortable allowing the 
applicant’s girlfriend and her child in the room whilst in private session. The 
committee agreed to allow them to remain the room, to support the applicant. 
  

16 Application for the grant of a Wyre dual driver's licence  
 
The Chair introduced the committee and the officers attending the meeting.  
He asked the applicant’s girlfriend and supporter to introduce herself to the 
committee. He also asked the applicant to confirm that he had understood the 
procedure for the meeting and that he had been made aware that he could 
have been represented. The applicant confirmed this.  
  
The Food, Health & Safety and Licensing Manager introduced the report. She 
highlighted the applicant’s past convictions and the relevant policies relating 
to these. She explained that the response from Lancashire Constabulary 
regarding more information on these convictions could be viewed at appendix 
2, and the response from West Midlands Police at appendix 3 of the agenda 
pack.  
  
The Chair asked the applicant to confirm that he had understood the content 
of the report. He then asked him to address the committee and explain why 
he felt he was a fit and proper person to hold a Wyre Dual Driver’s licence. 
  
The applicant addressed the committee. He explained that he had applied for 
the licence to gain better employment and pay for his family.  
  
Councillor A Turner asked the applicant to clarify his current employment 
status. He replied that he was a delivery driver doing evening shifts which 
paid very little.  
  
Councillor Baxter asked the applicant if he had a guaranteed job with a local 
taxi firm. The applicant confirmed this.  
  
The Chair asked the applicant to expand on the offences listed within the 
report. The applicant explained the details behind both offences to the 
committee.  
  
Councillor Baxter also asked the applicant to clarify the speeding offence 
mentioned within the report, which the applicant addressed.  
  
The Chair asked the applicant for further detail on one of the offences. The 

Page 4



 

applicant explained in further detail what had happened that led to the 
conviction, and explained that he had felt pressured to plead guilty but that it 
had been a false accusation.  
  
The Legal Services Manager asked the applicant for further clarification on 
the other offence listed within the report, and the breach of the restraining 
order. The applicant gave details regarding this breach.  
  
The Chair asked the applicant to summarise his case to the committee, and 
also asked if his supporter would like to add anything to his case. She 
addressed the committee.  
  
The Chair also asked about an arrest in 2021 in which he was released 
without charge. The applicant and their supporter responded to the question.   
  
Following questions, the applicant, his supporter and her child, the Manager 
of Food, Health & Safety and Licensing and the Senior Compiance/Licensing 
Enforcement Officer left the room whilst the committee members considered 
the decision. 
  
In reaching its decision, the committee had regard to: 

1.    Sections 51(1)(a), 53(1)(a) and 59(1)(a) of Part II of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (the Act) 

2.    The Wyre Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy on 
Convictions (including sections 1.14-15 Departures from Policy, 1.19 
Definition of Convictions, 9.1-3 Offences involving violence, 19.1, 19.4 
on Non-conviction Information) and other relevant matters 

  
The applicant and his supporter and her child, the Food, Health & Safety and 
Licensing Manager and the Senior Compliance/Licensing Enforcement Officer 
were brought back into the room and the Licensing Committee reconvened 
and the Chair announced their decision. 
  
Decision 
  
The Committee resolved not to grant a licence. 
  
Reasons for the decision 
  
The Committee could not find justification to depart from policy to grant the 
applicant a licence, as policy clearly stated that any offence involving violence 
against a person would result in a licence not being granted unless ten years 
had elapsed since completion of any imposed sentence.  
The Committee was satisfied that refusal of the application was appropriate 
and proportionate and in accordance with the overriding duty of the licensing 
authority to protect the travelling public. In all circumstances therefore, the 
Committee was not satisfied that the applicant was a fit and proper person to 
hold a licence under either and both s51 (1)(a) and s59 (1)(a) of the Act. 
  
They recommended he wait until the rest of the time period stated in the 
policy had elapsed and perhaps reapply.  

Page 5



 

  
The Legal Services Manager outlined the rights of appeal and that a letter 
setting out the reasons and right of appeal would be sent to him. 
 

The meeting started at 6.01 pm and finished at 6.36 pm. 
 
Date of Publication: 27 February 2023 
 

Page 6



 
 

Report of: Meeting Date 
Mark Billington,  

Corporate Director 
Environment 

Licensing Committee  28th March 2023 

 
Tri-annual Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey  

 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
 

To inform members of the Committee of the outcome of the 2022 Wyre 
hackney carriage unmet demand survey. 

2. Outcomes 
 

 2.1 
 
 

Members will be fully informed by independent review of any unmet 
demand for hackney carriages in the borough. 

3. Recommendation/s 
 

 3.1 
 
 

Members acknowledge the conclusions of the Unmet Demand Survey 
carried out by LVSA (via CTS Traffic and Transportation Ltd), that 
observed unmet demand in Wyre generally remains below the level that 
would see significant unmet demand levels but that attention and action is 
now required to increase levels of vehicle activity in Poulton-le-Fylde during 
the early hours of Saturday and Sunday mornings. 
 

 3.2 
 
 

That members reaffirm the Council’s position and continue to limit the 
number of hackney carriage licences issued by this Council to 160. 

4. Background 
 

 4.1 
 
 

The Transport Act 1985 provides for a local authority to limit the number of 
hackney carriages in its area, but only if it is satisfied that there is no 
significant unmet demand for the services of hackney carriages and that 
there are sufficient numbers of hackney carriages to service the needs of 
passengers within the Borough. 
 

 4.2 The number of hackney carriage plates issued in Wyre has been restricted 
to 160 since 1974.  
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 4.3 The determination of unmet demand is informed by the outcome of a 
comprehensive survey undertaken by independent and experienced 
transport consultants. 
 

 4.4 The Department for Transport (DfT) recommend that unmet demand 
surveys only remain valid for three years, the last such survey was 
undertaken in Wyre in 2018. However, on 25th February 2021, the 
Licensing Committee of Wyre Council resolved to postpone the full rank 
Unmet Demand Survey until 2022 because of the COVID-19 public health 
emergency.  
 

5. Key issues and proposals 
 

 5.1 
 
 

LVSA were commissioned in March 2022 to carry out the tri-annual 
unmet demand survey within the borough. 

 5.2 The survey of hackney carriage operation in Wyre was carried out 
between March 2022 and January 2023. On street and driver 
consultation occurred in July with rank work in July (very similar to 
previous studies). An additional disability user survey was also prepared 
and circulated by the Council.   
 

 5.3 A representative from LVSA will attend the meeting via video link to present 
the results of the 2022 survey (Appendix 1). 

 5.4 The conclusion from the report is that “there is evidence of unmet demand 
for the services of hackney carriages which is significant at this point in 
time in the Wyre Council Licensing area”. However, the report goes on to 
make it clear that the issue of further plates is not recommended at this 
time. Additionally, it also makes clear that work is required to address the 
provision of service in Poulton-le-Fylde (but that in the consultants 
experience extra plates would not achieve this aim). 

 5.5 Should members agree to maintain the current restrictions of 160 hackney 
carriage licences, a further study will be commissioned in 2025, subject to 
any changes in legislation. The administrative charge levied on hackney 
carriage vehicle licences will continue to pay for future studies. 

 5.6 However, if the “peaky” demand identified in Poulton-le-Fylde increases in 
the intervening period, a further small-scale study is highly likely to be 
commissioned. Such review could form part of any future consideration of 
suitable ways to incentivise drivers to work on beyond midnight on Friday 
and Saturday nights in Poulton-le-Fylde.  

 5.7 The previous survey report outlined that licensed premises in Poulton-le-
Fylde agreed to work together in December 2018 to fund two temporary 
taxi marshals. The taxi marshals had worked from approximately 01:00 
hours on Saturdays and Sundays to alleviate some of the problems that 
drivers were reporting with prospective customers’ unruly behaviour. This 
was very much a trial month facilitated through the Pubwatch scheme and 

Page 8



has not since been replicated. However, members should note that talks 
relating to implementing a scheme have recently started. Over the coming 
months it is hoped that licensees and taxi companies will work together to 
develop a permanent scheme capable of addressing the issues highlighted 
in the LVSA report.  

 

Financial and legal implications 

Finance 

The £14,245 cost of the survey has been funded from the 
aggregate of accumulated £20 unmet demand surcharges 
that are included in the fees for hackney carriage vehicle 
licences. As such there are no direct financial implications 
arising from this report.  

Legal 

Should anyone be aggrieved by the Council’s decision to 
limit the number of Hackney Carriages they may challenge 
the decision through the judicial review process. This 
survey provides the evidence base for the Council’s 
decision and could be relied upon if a legal challenge were 
brought. 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 
are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
 
risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 
community safety   asset management x 

equality and diversity x  climate change x 

sustainability x  ICT x 

health and safety x  data protection x 
 

Processing Personal Data 
 
In addition to considering data protection along with the other risks/ implications, the 
report author will need to decide if a ‘privacy impact assessment (PIA)’ is also 
required.  If the decision(s) recommended in this report will result in the collection 
and processing of personal data for the first time (i.e. purchase of a new system, a 
new working arrangement with a third party) a PIA will need to have been completed 
and signed off by Data Protection Officer before the decision is taken in compliance 
with the Data Protection Act 2018.  
 

report author telephone no. email date 

Page 9



Patrick Cantley 01253887281 patrick.cantley@wyre.go
v.uk 

14th March 
2023 

 
 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

N/A   
 
 
List of appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – 2022 Hackney Carriage Demand Survey  
 
 

Page 10

mailto:patrick.cantley@wyre.gov.uk
mailto:patrick.cantley@wyre.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

Wyre Council 
Hackney carriage demand survey 

March 2023 
 

Page 11



 

 

  

Page 12



 

 

i Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 

Executive Summary 
This Hackney carriage demand survey has been undertaken on behalf of Wyre 
Council following the guidance of the April 2010 DfT Best Practice Guidance 
document, and all relevant case history in regard to unmet demand. This 
Executive Summary draws together key points from the main report that are 
needed to allow a committee to determine from the facts presented their 
current position in regard to the policy of limiting hackney carriage vehicle 
licences according to Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act. It is a summary of 
the main report which follows and should not be relied upon solely to justify 
any decisions of a committee but must be read in conjunction with the full 
report below. 

The current survey of hackney carriage unmet demand and operation in Wyre 
was undertaken between March 2022 and January 2023. It includes on-street 
public consultation in July, all-trade driver consultation in July and August and 
rank observations during July, the same time as in the previous survey (which 
minimises seasonal differences). Over-arching County policies support the 
licensed vehicle fleet with a major focus on rank provision and services 
provided for the County. 

The overall industry structure remains very similar to that at the time of the 
previous survey, with a focus of companies on parts of the area. 

Rank provision has not changed, but usage has been affected by many recent 
site redevelopments and closures. Night life has effectively focussed on 
Poulton, where there seems to have been growth. 

Overall average weekly usage of hackney carriages from ranks appears to have 
fallen by 18% (lower than the 38% between the previous two surveys). 
However, the 3,665 passengers per typical week from ranks remains 32% 
higher than the very low level observed in the 2008 survey.  

Ball Street is the busiest location, albeit less so, with about a third of all 
demand there, mainly at weekend nights. Poulton station rank is second 
busiest, now with 19% of total demand. The next two busiest ranks each have 
12% of demand (The Regal and London Road, Fleetwood).  

There is a stark difference between levels of demand in Poulton and that in 
other areas. This effectively splits the area in two with reference to demand 
levels. 

  

Page 13



 

 

ii Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

There is further evidence of reduced service by hackney carriages to the night 
trade and in this survey, clear requests that marshals are needed particularly 
in Poulton to help. There is a possibility the potential clash between priority to 
bookings and to customers at ranks may not be helping this, but there is 
insufficient evidence to corroborate this at present. 

In the northern areas with active ranks, unmet demand arises from the result 
of overall low levels of demand. In Poulton the unmet demand arises from less 
vehicles servicing the higher levels of demand, partly due to fear and partly 
due to being able to work when preferable, and possibly, as noted above, 
because most operate under one banner. 

What is remarkable is the distinct confidence across Wyre that even if you 
arrive at a rank and there are no hackney carriages, they will arrive in due 
course, meaning no latent demand was observed. 

Trade response was higher than the previous survey.  

As was warned about in the previous survey, levels of unmet demand have 
continued to increase and are now at levels that are clearly significant. 

Overall, Wyre remains a very different area in terms of licensed vehicle 
operation than many others, and recent changes have reinforced this 
difference. The bulk of licensed vehicle usage in the urban parts of the area is 
undertaken by hackney carriage vehicles mostly on telephone circuits, mainly 
with liveries. This in essence makes these three parts of the area a one-tier 
system, with most people knowing ‘taxis’ as hackney carriages.  

People have increased their phone usage of licensed vehicles but are still very 
confident to wait at a wide range of ranks knowing a vehicle will arrive perhaps 
more quickly than if they phone. The fact that phoning will only access 
generally the same fleet of vehicles must be a sobering realisation to those 
waiting.  

However, there is a clear issue that demand, particularly on both weekend 
nights at Poulton is suffering from less drivers being willing to service these 
hours. This issue needs to be resolved. It needs discussion between licensing 
and the operators and honesty about operating protocols that from the 
licensing point of view ought to favour ranks whereas companies may tend 
towards favouring bookings.  

 

 

 

Page 14



 

 

iii Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

However, overall, the level of demand for hackney carriages at ranks is well 
below that implied by the current number of vehicles on issue. Despite unmet 
demand statistics saying there is an issue with service levels provided, there 
is not per se a shortage of vehicles across the full area. Adding more is more 
likely to reduce supply when needed than increase it given no-one can 
condition when vehicles must operate. 

There is a strong need to take concerted action across the industry to ensure 
the needs of people travelling are more effectively met, particularly if people 
see their travelling ability affected by disability of various kinds. But again, the 
principal benefits in this regard are most likely to be achieved by liaison, co-
operation and working together rather than by blanket policies seeking change. 

 

  

Page 15



 

 

iv Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 
  

Page 16



 

 

v Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ..................................................      i 

Contents ........................................................................     iv 

1 General introduction and background ...........       1 

2 Local background and context ..........................     11 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys)  19 

4 General public views .............................................   29 

5 Key stakeholder consultation ............................   41 

6 Trade stakeholder views .....................................   45 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance 51 

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions   55 

9 Recommendations .................................................   69 

 

  

Page 17



 

 

  

Page 18



 

 

1 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

1 General introduction and background 
 

Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA) is a joint venture between 
CTS Traffic and Transportation Ltd (CTS) and Vector Transport Consultancy. 
These two companies have hitherto been the two leading practitioners of 
hackney carriage unmet demand surveys in recent years and who joined forces 
in early 2017. The combined experience of this joint venture covers in the 
order of 250 similar studies undertaken since 1999. The contracting company 
for this survey, CTS, also undertook the previous two surveys for this 
authority, in 2018 and 2015, and is aware of earlier surveys, therefore having 
unrivalled knowledge of the operation of licensed vehicles in the area. 

Wyre Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney carriage and private 
hire vehicles operating within the Council area and is the licensing authority 
for this complete area. Further details of the local application of Section 16 of 
the 1985 Transport Act with regard to limiting hackney carriage vehicle 
numbers is provided in further Chapters of this report. Hackney carriage 
vehicle licences are the only part of licensing where such a stipulation occurs 
and there is no legal means by which either private hire vehicle numbers, 
private hire or hackney carriage driver numbers, or the number of private hire 
operators can be limited.  

This review of current policy is based on the Best Practice Guidance produced 
by the Department for Transport in April 2010 (BPG). It seeks to provide 
information to the licensing authority to meet section 16 of the Transport Act 
1985 “that the grant of a hackney carriage vehicle licence may be refused if, 
but only if, the licensing authority is satisfied that there is no significant 
demand for the services of hackney carriages within its local area, which is 
unmet.” This terminology is typically shortened to “no SUD”. 

Current hackney carriage, private hire and operator licensing is undertaken 
within the legal frameworks first set by the Town Polices Clause Act 1847 
(TPCA), amended and supplemented by various following legislation including 
the Transport Act 1985, Section 16 in regard to hackney carriage vehicle limits, 
and by the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 with reference 
to private hire vehicles and operations. This latter Act saw application of 
regulation to the then growing private hire sector which had not been 
previously part of the TPCA. Many of the aspects of these laws have been 
tested and refined by other more recent legislation and more importantly 
through case law.  

 

 

Page 19



 

 

2 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Public experience 
 
Beyond legislation, the experience of the person in the street tends to see both 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles both as ‘taxis’ – a term we will try 
for the sake of clarity to use only in its generic sense within the report. We will 
use the term ‘licensed vehicle’ to refer to both hackney carriage and private 
hire. 

Legislative Background 
 
The legislation around licensed vehicles and their drivers has been the subject 
of many attempts at review. The limiting of hackney carriage vehicle numbers 
has been a particular concern as it is often considered to be a restrictive 
practice and against natural economic trends.  

The five most recent reviews were by the Office of Fair Trading in 2003, 
through the production of the Best Practice Guidance in 2010 (BPG), the Law 
Commission review which published its results in 2014, the All-Party 
Parliamentary Group on Taxis deliberations in 2018 (resulting in the publication 
of a part revision of the BPG) and the 2022 consultation on a more 
comprehensive review of the 2010 BPG (BPG 22). None of these resulted in 
any material change to the legislation involved in licensing. 

The Deregulation Act 2015 had two clauses relevant to taxi licensing – relating 
to length of period covered by licences (Section 10) and allowance of operators 
to transfer work across borders (Section 11) (both enacted October 2015). 

In November 2016, the Department of Transport (DfT) undertook its 
consultation regarding enacting Sections 165 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010. 
These allowed for all vehicles capable of carrying a wheel chair being placed 
on a list by the Council (Section 167) leading to any driver that uses a vehicle 
on this list having a duty under Section 165 to: 

- Carry the passenger while in the wheel chair 
- Not make any additional charge for doing so 
- If the passenger so chooses to travel in a seat to make provision for 

proper and safe carriage of the wheel chair 
- To take such steps as are necessary to ensure the passenger is carried 

in safety and reasonable comfort 
- To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required 

Since enactment in April 2017 issues with discrimination have not reduced as 
much as expected and further change occurred with one of two 2022 Acts put 
in place (see below). 

 

Page 20



 

 

3 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Regard has also been had to the Statutory Taxi and Private Standards July 
2020 which were published on 21 July 2020 and represented a milestone in 
transportation regulation, because for the first time the safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable people were put right at the heart of the taxi licensing 
system. This publication also noted that a more complete review of all sections 
of the 2010 Best Practice Guidance would occur in due course and consultation 
on a draft of this new document ran from March to June 2022. 

At the time of writing of this report, no date had still been given for formal 
publication of the new DfT Best Practice Guidance following the close of the 
consultation period. 

The two 2022 Acts make small but significant changes. The 2022 Acts are the 
“Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles (Safeguarding and Road Safety Act) (31 March 
2022)” and the “Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles (Disabled Persons) (28 June 
2022)”. 

The first makes it mandatory for any licensing authority in England that has 
information about a taxi (hackney carriage) or private hire vehicle (phv) driver 
licensed by another authority that is relevant to safeguarding or road safety 
concerns in its area to share that information with the authority that issued 
that drivers licence.  

The second amends the Equality Act 2010 to place duties on taxi and phv 
drivers and operators such that any disabled person has specific rights and 
protections to be transported and receive assistance when using a taxi or phv 
without being charged extra for doing so. 

The present situation 
 
The upshot of all the changes in legislation with respect to the principal subject 
of this survey, local authorities retain the right to restrict the number of 
hackney carriage vehicle licenses.  

The Law Commission conclusion (Law Commission, Taxi and Private Hire 
Services, Law Com No 347, May 2014, ref CM8864) included retention of the 
power to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers but utilizing a public interest 
test determined by the Secretary of State. It also suggested the three-year 
horizon used for demand surveys also be used for rank reviews and 
accessibility reviews. In the end, no legislative change resulted and more 
recent discussions and the consultation on the revised Best Practice Guidance 
are assumed to be the Government response. 

 

Page 21



 

 

4 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

During the pandemic, the DfT formally advised authorities to delay unmet 
demand reviews beyond this three-year interval as they advised any review in 
the midst of the pandemic was not sufficiently typical to be of value. Most 
authorities accepted this review. 

Alternatives 
 
A more recent restriction, often applied to areas where there is no ‘quantity’ 
control felt to exist per-se, is that of ‘quality control’. This is often a pseudonym 
for a restriction that any new hackney carriage vehicle licence must be for a 
wheel chair accessible vehicle, of various kinds as determined locally. In many 
places this implies a restricted number of saloon style hackney carriage 
licences are available, which often are given ‘grandfather’ rights to remain as 
saloon style. Such restrictions can also be in place within areas that also retain 
a limit on vehicle numbers. 
 
Within this quality restriction, there are various levels of strength of the types 
of vehicles allowed. The tightest restriction, now only retained by a few 
authorities only allows ‘London’ style wheel chair accessible vehicles, restricted 
to those with a 25-foot turning circle, and at the present time principally the 
LTI Tx, the Mercedes Vito special edition with steerable rear axle (no longer 
produced), and the Metrocab (no longer produced).  

Others allow a wider range of van style conversions in their wheel chair 
accessible fleet, whilst some go as far as also allowing rear-loading 
conversions. Given the additional price of these vehicles, this often implies a 
restriction on entry to the hackney carriage trade. A secondary issue arises in 
that many larger powered chairs, becoming more common, either need a van 
style version with tail lift or are unable to be carried by hackney carriage or 
private hire at all due to vehicle loading restrictions. 

Some authorities do not allow vehicles which appear to be hackney carriage, 
i.e. mainly the London style vehicles, to be within the private hire fleet, whilst 
others do allow wheel chair vehicles. The most usual method of distinguishing 
between hackney carriages and private hire is a ‘Taxi’ roof sign on the vehicle, 
although again some areas do allow roof signs on private hire as long as they 
do not say ‘Taxi’, some turn those signs at right angles, whilst others apply 
liveries, mainly to hackney carriage fleets, but sometimes also to private hire 
fleets. 

More recent considerations have added how greater and more speedy 
introduction of more sustainable vehicle propulsion might be encouraged in 
the licensed vehicle fleets.  

 

Page 22



 

 

5 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Evaluation of Unmet Demand 
 

After introduction of the 1985 Transport Act, Leeds University Institute for 
Transport Studies developed a tool by which unmet demand could be evaluated 
and a determination made if this was significant or not. The tool was taken 
forward and developed as more studies were undertaken. Over time this ‘index 
of significance of unmet demand’ (ISUD) became accepted as an industry 
standard tool to be used for this purpose.  

Some revisions have been made following the few but specific court cases 
where various parties have challenged the policy of retaining a limit.  

Some of the application has differed between Scottish and English authority’s. 
This is mainly due to some court cases in Scotland taking interpretation of the 
duty of the licensing authority further than is usual in England and Wales, 
requiring current knowledge of the status of unmet demand at all times, rather 
than just at the snap-shot taken every three years. However, the three year 
survey horizon has become generally accepted given the advice of the BPG 
and most locations that review regularly do within that timescale. 

The DfT asked in writing in 2004 for all licensing authorities with quantity 
restrictions to review them, publish their justification by March 2005, and then 
review at least every three years since then. In due course, this led to a 
summary of the government guidance which was last updated in England and 
Wales in 2010 (but on 5 April 2012 in Scotland). 

The BPG in 2010 also provided additional suggestions of how these surveys 
should be undertaken, albeit in general but fairly extensive terms. A key 
encouragement within the BPG is that “an interval of three years is commonly 
regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys”. BPG suggests 
key points in consideration are passenger waiting times at ranks, for street 
hailings and telephone bookings, latent and peaked demand, wide consultation 
and publication of “all the evidence gathered”.  

Unmet demand case history 
 
In respect to case law impinging on unmet demand, the two most recent cases 
were in 1987 and 2002. The first case (R v Great Yarmouth) concluded 
authorities must consider the view of significant unmet demand as a whole, 
not condescending to detailed consideration of the position in every limited 
area, i.e. to consider significance of unmet demand over the area as a whole. 

 

Page 23



 

 

6 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

R v Castle Point considered the issue of latent, or preferably termed, 
suppressed demand consideration. This clarified that this element relates only 
to the element which is measurable. Measurable suppressed demand includes 
inappropriately met demand (taken by private hire vehicles in situations legally 
hackney carriage opportunities) or those forced to use less satisfactory 
methods to get home (principally walking, i.e. those observed to walk away 
from rank locations).  

In general, industry standards suggest (but specifically do not mandate in any 
way) that the determination of conclusions about significance of unmet 
demand should take into account the practicability of improving the standard 
of service through the increase of supply of vehicles.  

It is also important to have consistent treatment of authorities as well as for 
the same authority over time, although apart from the general guidance of the 
BPG there is no clear stipulations as to what this means in reality, and certainly 
no mandatory nor significant court guidance in this regard. 

The 2010 Best Practice Guidance stated “Most local licensing authorities do not 
impose quantity restrictions; the Department regards that as best practice.” 
This is restated in the currently draft new Best Practice Guidance. 

This new draft Best Practice Guidance also adds para 9.3 quoting “The 
Competition and Markets Authority was clear in its 2017 guidance “Regulation 
of taxis and private hire vehicles: understanding the impact of competition” 
that “Quantity restrictions are not necessary to ensure the safety of 
passengers, or to ensure that fares are reasonable.”  

To summarise, the Department for Transport Best Practice Guidance only 
references ‘quantity restrictions’ and that not imposing them is regarded by 
the Department as ‘best practice’. Further discussion of this is provided in 
Chapter 8 below including details of the numbers of authorities that retain such 
quantity restriction. 

Conclusion to chapter 
 
In conclusion, the present legislation in England and Wales sees public fare-
paying passenger carrying vehicles firstly split by passenger capacity. All 
vehicles able to carry nine or more passengers are dealt with under national 
public service vehicle licensing. Local licensing authorities only have 
jurisdiction over vehicles carrying eight or less passengers. Further, the 
jurisdiction focusses on the vehicles, drivers and operators but rarely extends 
to the physical infrastructure these use (principally ranks). 
 

Page 24



 

 

7 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

The vehicles are split between hackney carriages which are alone able to wait 
at ranks or pick up people in the streets without a booking, and private hire 
who can only be used with a booking made through an operator. If any 
passenger uses a private hire vehicle without such a properly made booking, 
they are not generally considered to be insured for their journey. 

Drivers can either be split between ability to drive either hackney carriage or 
private hire, or be ‘dual’, allowed to drive either kind of vehicle. Wyre has long 
had ‘dual’ driver licences allowing any driver to choose the style of vehicle they 
need to drive at the time. 

Whilst a private hire driver can only take bookings via an operator, with the 
‘triple-lock’ applying that the vehicle, driver and operator must all be with the 
same authority, a hackney carriage driver can accept bookings on-street or by 
phone without the same stipulation required for private hire. 

Recent legislation needing clarification has some operators believing they can 
use vehicles from any authority as long as they are legally licensed as private 
hire. At first, under the ‘Stockton’ case, this was hackney carriages operating 
as private hire in other areas (cross-border hiring). More recently, under the 
Deregulation Act, private hire companies are able to subcontract bookings to 
other companies in other areas if they are unable to fulfil their booking, but 
the interpretation of this has become quite wide. 

The ‘triple lock’ licensing rule has also become accepted. A vehicle, driver and 
operator must all be under the same licensing authority to provide full 
protection to the passenger. However, it is also accepted that a customer can 
call any private hire company anywhere to provide their transport although 
many would not realise that if there was an issue it would be hard for a local 
authority to follow this up unless the triple lock was in place by the vehicle 
used and was for the area the customer contacted licensing. 

Further, introduction of recent methods of obtaining vehicles, principally using 
‘apps’ on mobile phones have also led to confusion as to how ‘apps’ usage sits 
with present legislation.  

All these matters can impact on hackney carriage services, their usage, and 
therefore on unmet demand and its significance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 

 

8 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Coronavirus 
 
The serious Covid-19 virus took hold in the UK during March 2020. Whilst life 
carried on almost as normal until mid-March of the same year, formal lockdown 
was applied from Tuesday 24th March 2020 until 24th February 2022 when final 
restrictions were removed. Significant reductions in movement had begun to 
bite from the previous week. The last dates in 2020 when on-street and rank 
surveys occurred in other areas were effectively Sunday 16th March 2020. Up 
to that point regular review on the three-year timetable had begun to be much 
more widely accepted. 

The licensed vehicle trade was one of a few industries permitted to continue 
to operate throughout the pandemic and various lockdowns, albeit in a range 
of different ways due to reduced demand.   

The lockdown began to be eased on 13th May 2020 in some sectors, with people 
encouraged to return to work if they were not able to work from home. 
Restrictions on outdoor exercise, golf courses, tennis courses and socialising 
at distance, with restart of construction also allowed. From 15th June 2020, 
bars, restaurants and hairdressers were allowed to return to a ‘new normal’. 
The next wave of easement occurred on 4th July 2020. 

However, a range of different re-restrictions were applied in various locations 
as cases began to rise again. Schools were re-opened in September, but a new 
‘rule of six’ was introduced shortly after reducing the ability of people to 
socialise as rates of infection rose again, together with a 22:00 hours close 
time for all hospitality venues. In general, new restrictions tended to be 
introduced with a few days lead in but this ended with a new lockdown from 
Thursday 5th November2020 ending on Wednesday 2nd December 2020 that 
year. 

After that, new Tiers were introduced (to try to minimise restrictions in parts 
of the country where the virus was less dominant) and then again another 
national lockdown was applied from early January 2021 but with the start of 
vaccinations providing some hope of an eventual overcoming of the impacts of 
the virus. 

As levels of vaccination increased and infection / hospitalisations and deaths 
reduced, a new road out of lockdown was announced and implemented. The 
final stage, removal of most English restrictions, was delayed about a month 
but was finally instigated towards the end of July 2021. The Government focus 
has since then been on ‘coping with the virus’ although as Winter 2021 
progressed infection levels tended to move upwards.  

Page 26



 

 

9 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Later in Winter 2021 appearance of a new variant led to further concern and 
encouragement to partake in a booster vaccination programme as well as 
taking further care about interaction. Mask wearing was returned to being a 
legal requirement at the start of December 2021 in many, but not all of the 
previous circumstances. The situation around Christmas 2021 was very tense. 
Working from home was reinstated towards the end of 2021. 

Early 2022 saw more confidence that the ‘omicron wave’ could be survived 
although in early January 2022 there was pressure on many industries arising 
from staff isolating. Various methods were being considered to minimise the 
impact of need to self-isolate. On 24th February 2022 all legal restrictions in 
England were removed with the focus clearly moving to ‘living with the virus’ 
although unintended consequences of rising fuel and other prices from the 
reopening of the economy were also exacerbated by the current issue of the 
Ukraine occupation.  

During Autumn 2022 there was a high level of COVID infection but the link 
between infection and serious illness appeared to have been broken, although 
the need to keep levels of immunity to severe disease may well lead to further 
immunisation as time proceeds. Another booster injection was starting to be 
rolled out as part of the vaccination strategy. 

Overall, the pandemic led to a significant period of lack of business for both 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, in various ways as the pandemic 
developed. Some of the impacts of this are discussed in public and driver 
attitude chapters below, as well as review of impact on demand in the rank 
chapter. More significant was the reappraisal of many as to their involvement 
with the taxi industry, and the general job market churn that was instigated 
not just in the taxi arena. In many areas there is clear knowledge that many 
who planned to retire brought that date forward whilst others found that the 
certainty of income from delivery driving was preferable to the vagaries of taxi 
passenger demand.  

Various contract work appears to have remained a constant during the 
pandemic however (school transport, health transport and so on). However, 
airports were particularly badly hit resulting in many private hire vehicles being 
unusable, whilst rail patronage remains reduced with patterns of travel 
strongly revised towards off-peak travel. 

Yet others found the shortage of private hire drivers meant more requirement 
on hackney carriages in the daytime, in turn meaning they could earn more in 
the week, and not be reliant on servicing less-preferable customers in the early 
hours of Saturday and Sunday morning.  

Page 27



 

 

10 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

A further issue we have observed is that even pubs, restaurants and night 
venues are now reducing their opening hours or days in reaction to rising costs 
and staff shortages. This can lead to taxi demand in an area becoming peaky 
or peakier with such change. This means spikes in passenger demand for 
licensed vehicles, which is always harder to meet in a timely manner for a 
given level of vehicles particularly in the later and night-time economy hours?  

Further, the impacts of the developing war in Ukraine and other economic 
changes partly arising from Brexit is again putting pressure on costs of 
providing licensed vehicle services.  Rising fuel prices have also added to the 
issues, albeit counter-balanced with an increase in fare charges for some 
authorities. A further knock-on has been change to how those involved in the 
trade interact with their licensing authorities, with most face-to-face contact 
effectively removed.  

The days when the main aim of a demand survey was checking if passenger 
demand had changed to see if supply remained sufficient have now been 
replaced by a much wider research need to identify both demand and supply 
side changes (such as drivers working shorter weeks, more time by drivers 
undertaking contracts or diversifying as delivery drivers changed passenger 
use of ranks and locations arising from matters such as reduced rail travel, 
etc).  

Even long-standing areas with limited hackney carriage vehicle numbers have 
been impacted by having spare hackney carriage vehicle licences available for 
the first time in decades. However, our experience suggests that even spare 
plates and reduced demand can still result in unmet demand increasing as a 
result of change in the range of elements that need to balance to provide better 
public service. 

  

Page 28



 

 

11 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

2 Local background and context 
 

Key dates for this Hackney carriage demand survey for Wyre Council are: 

- appointed Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA) on 15 
February 2022 

- in accordance with our proposal of December 2021 
- as confirmed during the inception meeting for the survey held on 14 

March 2022 
- this survey was carried out between March 2022 and January 2023 
- On street pedestrian survey work occurred in July 2022 
- the video rank observations occurred in July 2022 
- Licensed vehicle driver opinions and operating practices were obtained 

by an all-driver survey issued by the Council and returned to us available 
through July and August 2022 

- An additional WAV-user survey was facilitated and promoted by the 
Council during July and August 2022 

- Key stakeholders were consulted throughout the period of the survey 
- A draft of this Final Report was reviewed by the client during February 

2022 
- and reported to the appropriate Council committee. 

Wyre Council is one of twelve district and two unitary authorities within the 
Lancashire County Council higher tier authority area. The authority has a 
current population of 111,900 using the 2021 initial estimates from the 2021 
census (albeit for 2021). This is slightly higher than in 2018 but a little less 
than the estimate of 2021 previously available from updated 2011 information. 

In terms of background council policy, Wyre Council is a district council with 
many powers held at the higher, County level. This includes transport policy 
as well as highways. Until 2000, ranks were under the control of the local 
authority, but in 2000 the County took these powers over such that any rank 
is now provided by and maintained by the County. However, the County works 
in conjunction with the district on establishing ranks as part of an overall 
parking strategy or review, but the local district is also able to provide taxi 
bays under their special provisions which allow such to be provided under local 
authority auspices with consent from the County. Typical options use bays with 
limited daytime waiting for ranks at night, very helpful when new night venues 
open and need urgent action on rank provision. 

 

 

Page 29



 

 

12 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

A further matter which impacts on the hackney carriage licensing for the area 
is that the school and social services transport function is also undertaken at 
County level, providing contracts to both the hackney carriage and private hire 
industry of the area, some of which go beyond the district boundary, and some 
of which can be provided cross-county rather than at district level. This can 
provide places where local policy ends up superseded by County policy, further 
discussion of which follows. 

With respect to the background Transport Strategy, the Wyre Local Plan runs 
from 2011 to 2031. This was last updated formally in February 2019. In section 
6.7 it points out that society and business relies on an effective and efficient 
transport system, the capacity of which in Wyre is limited. It is noted that the 
rural nature of the area implies high reliance on the car. However, maximising 
opportunities for safe pedestrian and cycle movements and access to public 
transport is important.   

The principals of the Lancashire Local Transport Plan are embodied by the 
Fylde Coast highway and transport masterplan, agreed after public 
consultation in 2015. This sees focus on improving access to Fleetwood 
principally by new highway links from the revised M55 junctions at Wesham 
Circle and Marton Circle, the latter of which shall link to Fleetwood via the new 
Windy Harbour to Skipool Bypass. Additionally, the rail network connecting the 
West Coast Mainline to Blackpool North Station (passing through Poulton on 
route) has now been electrified and is capable of accommodating pendolino 
services directly to and from London Euston. This coupled with the extension 
of the Blackpool Tramway from the promenade at North Pier to Blackpool North 
station will improve access to the UK national rail network from Blackpool, 
Fleetwood and Cleveleys. 

The Local Transport Plan encourages taxi operators to work with transport 
authorities to ensure staff respect the needs of all travellers. However, being 
a strategic and County-led document, the focus is less on local taxi operating 
principles and more on higher level national strategy. Transport interchanges 
are likewise seen to be important, but again the higher-level focus leaves them 
not mentioning specifics of local taxi operation. 

Local Licensing Statistics 
 
All licensing authorities have full powers over licensing the vehicles, drivers 
and operators serving people within their area within the strictures above. 
Wyre Council has chosen to utilise its power to limit hackney carriage vehicle 
numbers, and as far as we are aware has done so since 1974 according to 
references in the DfT statistics databases. 

Page 30



 

 

13 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

By drawing together published statistics from both the Department for 
Transport (D) and the National Private Hire Association (N), supplemented by 
private information from the licensing authority records (C), recent trends in 
vehicle, driver and operator numbers can be observed. The detailed numbers 
supporting the picture below are provided in Appendix 1. Due to the 
comparative size, the operator figures are shown in the second picture. 

 

160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 160

111 117
104

118 119 120

148 145
133 128 123

106 99 98 101
120 125 125

96 104

79
90 90

100

271 277
264

278 279 280

308 305
293 288 283

266 259 258 261
280 285 285

256 264

239
250 250

260

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Wyre licensed vehicles and drivers

hcv phv lv total hcd phd dd total d

Page 31



 

 

14 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Licensing Statistics from 1994 to date 

The number of hackney carriages still remains as it was at the start of DfT 
statistic gathering. There were up to three plates which were not renewed at 
one point in the recent year (and around the time of the survey). It is likely 
without the limit those plates might have been lost. 

The level of private hire peaked in 2009 after which there was a slump to 2015 
and some resurgence to just ahead of the pandemic. The pandemic had a 
strong impact on private hire numbers, which only began to resurge about the 
time of the April 2022 DfT survey. They are growing again now, although they 
remain lower than the level at which the data began (1997, 111 vehicles). 
They remain the smaller part of the licensed vehicle fleet, 38% of the total. 

Overall driver numbers also remain much lower than the 2007 peak, with a 
very slight recent increase observed after the large drop of the pandemic. Just 
before the pandemic, numbers had been starting to grow more. The change to 
dual driver licences was fully complete by 2017.  

Information is also available from these sources to show how the level of wheel 
chair accessible vehicles (WAV) has varied. It must be noted that in most cases 
the values for the private hire side tend to be much more approximate than 
those on the hackney carriage side, as there is no option to mandate for private 
hire being wheel chair accessible. In some areas, to strengthen the ability of 
the public to differentiate between the two parts of the licensed vehicle trade, 
licensing authorities might not allow any WAV in the private hire fleet at all.  

Page 32



 

 

15 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 

Operator numbers and levels of WAV provision in the fleet 

The figures above show a wide variation in levels of wheel chair accessible 
licensed vehicles, with the peak, in both parts of the trade, apparently reached 
in 2013. However, after that, there has been a general decline in the level of 
such vehicles, and with an apparent switch between the hackney carriage and 
private hire fleet in the recent statistics. This switch between hackney carriage 
and private hire has become more acute since the survey work was completed, 
with direct switches of vehicles from hackney carriage to private hire. Whilst 
this may make sense in terms of most disabled passengers tending to make 
bookings, it further reduces the potential to get a wheel chair accessible vehicle 
at a rank, and more so given the large number of ranks in the area.  

13

16

13

6

10
9

13

8
7

5

15

8 8 8 8
7

3

7

3
4

5 5 5
30

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

19
94

D

19
97

D

19
99

D

20
01

D

20
04

D

20
05

D

20
07

D

20
09

D

20
10

N

20
11

D

20
12

C

20
13

D

20
14

N

20
15

D

20
15

C 
a

20
15

C 
o

20
17

D

20
18

C

20
18

D

20
19

D

20
20

D

20
21

D

20
22

D

20
22

C

20
23

C

Wyre - operators and % WAV in fleets

Operators % hcv WAV % phv WAV

Page 33



 

 

16 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Further discussion of this is provided below in the synthesis section of the 
Report where other matters are brought into consideration from the 
stakeholder consultation. 

Contrary to other information, the level of operators in the area has seen 
significant increase from the time of the last survey to date, although even this 
level remains slightly lower than the peak of just under 40 reached in 2005. 

Wyre Council undertakes regular review of its policy to limit hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers in line with the BPG. The previous surveys were in 2018, 2015 
and 2008. No unmet demand was identified as being significant in either 
survey although in 2018 there was suggestion interim reviews might be 
needed to consider the position regarding night demand in Poulton. The date 
for the 2021 survey was delayed by the COVID pandemic. 

Fleet ownership structure 
 
The overall fleet structure in the area remains stable. The number of one-man 
band operators remains large, with many having no public facing element 
whilst others focus on service in the more rural Over-Wyre part of the area. 
Some of these companies exist mainly to service Lancashire County council 
contracts which are generally given only to companies and not to individuals. 
 
Fleetwood retains its two main companies each with about the same number 
of vehicles, 45 or so, and mainly hackney carriages with a few private hire. 
Both have different operating models. It is understood that one fleet may have 
expanded a little at the expense of the other.  

Cleveleys now has three main companies all of which are mixed hackney 
carriage / private hire fleets. They are a similar size to the Fleetwood 
companies and both have a few private hire related to them, with all three 
having fleet liveries. One new company has set up since the last survey and 
gained drivers from the other two companies. 

Poulton retains one main company, which is also a mixed fleet, and is overall 
a little smaller than the other four companies noted above.  

The hackney carriage fleet is mainly related to the above companies, with there 
being about six independent hackney carriages in Cleveleys, four in Poulton 
and none in Fleetwood. We understand this number has remained very similar 
since the previous survey.  

 

 

Page 34



 

 

17 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

This is compounded by most private hire companies having a livery which is 
applied to the hackney carriages in their fleets meaning most ranks also 
provide those using vehicles from them with the name of the company for 
whom the vehicle is working. Most major public facing companies also have 
names including either Taxi or Cab in their advertising both generally and on 
vehicle. 

Livery colours vary by company but on this basis are also specific to the 
different areas of the authority. In parts of the authority where there is just 
one company the fleet will appear more homogenous (Poulton) than in those 
areas with two or three companies (Fleetwood, Cleveleys). The rural area of 
Over Wyre tends to have smaller companies, almost exclusively private hire, 
but again tending to have ‘cabs’ in their titles. Further discussion of the 
implications of this follow. 

Page 35



 

 

18 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

  

Page 36



 

 

19 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys) 
 

As already recorded in Chapter 2, control of provision of on-street ranks in 
Wyre Council is principally in the hands of the County authority, with limited 
provision for the local district to provide mainly night-time provision in 
relatively shorter time frames, if required. 

There have been no real changes to ranks since the last survey, although the 
trend of locations that formerly provided demand now being replaced by new 
facilities which have no significant taxi demand generation ability continues. 
This includes several former public house sites that have become housing 
development locations. The general decline in night life in the area has 
continued with heightened focus of such demand in Poulton. 

Usage of ranks in a typical week 
 
The information from the 2022 rank observations was used to estimate current 
typical week passenger flows from each location. This information is compared 
to that for the three previous surveys to identify trends and validate the 
present observations. The table also includes reference to all locations visited 
during previous sites visit with comments from information provided by the 
licensing team and in some cases from driver comment, where possible. 

The table is listed with the highest number of estimated passengers at the top 
of the table, progressing with reducing demand although the listing to the 
bottom of the table has no specific order. 

Rank 

Pa
ss

en
g
er

s 
p
er

 w
ee

k 
2
0
2
2
 s

u
rv

ey
 

Pa
ss

en
g
er

s 
p
er

 w
ee

k 
2
0
1
8
 s

u
rv

ey
 

Pa
ss

en
g
er

s 
p
er

 w
ee

k 
2
0
1
5
 s

u
rv

ey
 

Pa
ss

en
g
er

s 
p
er

 w
ee

k,
 

2
0
0
8
 s

u
rv

ey
 

Ball Street, Poulton 1,300 (35%) 1,467(33%) 3,001(42%) 317(12%) 
Breck Rd, Poulton (Station) 706 (19%) 558 (12%) 675(9%) 519(19%) 
London Street, Fleetwood 447 (12%) 517 (12%) 954(13%) 199(7%) 

Victoria Rd West, The Regal, 
Cleveleys 

446 (12%) 549 (12%) 
640(9%) 985(36%) 

Victoria Rd West, KFC Cleveleys 327 (9%) 356 (8%) 772(11%) 58(2%) 
Nutter Rd, Cleveleys 314 (9%) 476 (11%) 499(7%) 171(6%) 

Church Road, Thornton 34 (1%) 78 (2%) 88(1%) N/A 
Cleveleys Avenue, Cleveleys 26 (1%) 163 (4%) 222(3%) 50(2%) 

Grange Rd, Fleetwood 17 (0.5%) 93 (3%) 48(1%) N/A 
Broomfield Rd / Lindel Rd 26 (1%) 62 (1%) 72(1%) N/A 

Page 37



 

 

20 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Darbishire Rd, Fleetwood 11 (0.3%) 8 (0.0%) 62(1%) 60(2%) 
Lord St, Post Office, Fleetwood 10 (0.3%) 12 (0.3%) 30(0.5%) N/A 
Kemp St at Lord St, Fleetwood 1 (0.03%) 72 (2%) 60(1%) 10(0%) 

Adelaide St, Fleetwood 1 (0.03%) 21 (0.5%) 48(1%) N/A 
Princess St, B+M, Cleveleys No demand 63 (1.4%) 23(0.5%) 133(5%) 

Leslie Avenue, Thornton-Cleveleys No demand 0 (0%) 0(0%) N/A 
North Albert St, Fleetwood Unused Unused 18(0%) N/A 
Victoria Rd West, Tramway, 

Cleveleys 
Little used Little used 2(0%) 

N/A 

Dock Street, Fleetwood Club gone Club gone 0 (0%) N/A 
Larkholme Parade, Fleetwood Unused Unused 0 (0%) N/A 

Pharos Place Unused Unused 0 (0%) N/A 
Oxenholme Ave, Thornton-Cleveleys Unused Unused 0 (0%) N/A 

Rossendale Avenue, Thornton-
Cleveleys 

Unused Unused 0 (0%) 
N/A 

Rossall Rd, Thornton-Cleveleys Given up Given up N/A 233 (8%) 
Victoria Rd, Lyntons, Thornton-

Cleveleys 
Unused Unused N/A 

35 (1%) 

Birch St, Fleetwood Unused Unused N/A 8 (0%) 
Kemp St, Harlequins, Fleetwood Unused Unused N/A 4 (0%) 

Pier, Fleetwood Unused Unused N/A 0 
Windsor Rd, Garstang Gone Gone N/A 0 

Knott End Café Unused Unused N/A 0 
Clock Tower, Knott End Unused Unused N/A 0 

Poacher’s Way, Thornton-Cleveleys No demand No demand N/A N/A 
Mount Road, Fleetwood Unused Unused N/A N/A 

Victoria St, Library, Fleetwood Little used Little used N/A N/A 

North Drive, Thornton-Cleveleys 
Little 

demand 
Little 

demand 
N/A 

N/A 

Sandpiper, Thornton-Cleveleys Pub closed Pub closed N/A N/A 

Beach Road, Travellers 
Little 

demand 
Little 

demand 
N/A 

N/A 

Victoria Road West, near Slaters 
Road 

Little used Little used N/A 
N/A 

Manor Road Pub gone Pub gone N/A N/A 
Chatsworth Avenue Pub gone Pub gone N/A N/A 

Poulton Elk (new since 2015) Unused Unused N/A N/A 
Pinewood Avenue (still marked) Deleted Deleted N/A N/A 

Slinger Road, Thornton-Cleveleys Rarely used Rarely used N/A N/A 
Total 3,665 4,495 7,214 2,782 

Growth from previous -18% -38% +259% n/a 
Growth from 2008 +32% +62%   

Page 38



 

 

21 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 

 

 

The table above shows there appears to have been an 18% drop in average 
usage at ranks across the area between the last survey and now. This is despite 
the surveys being undertaken at a similar time to the previous. There are 
currently just under 3,700 passengers using hackney carriages from ranks in 
a typical week in 2022. However, this is still just over 32% more than the level 
observed in 2008 which was just under 2,800. 

The reduction in number of active ranks continues with another two locations 
totally unused in this survey and two more where numbers of passengers are 
effectively zero. In this survey 96% of estimated passengers are accounted for 
by the top six ranks. Three ranks provide 1% and another five total the final 
1% of demand. In 2018, the top six accounted for 88%. 

Ball Street in Poulton remains the busiest rank overall, having increased its 
share slightly to 35% (was 33% in 2018). This remained around half the level 
of that observed in 2015. The other rank in Poulton, at the station, remains 
the second busiest in the area, also taking an increased share (19% compared 
to 12%) of average weekly passenger demand. This means that Poultons two 
ranks see 54% of weekly demand across the authority.  

London Street Fleetwood and Victoria Road West, the Regal in Cleveleys are 
the only other two ranks seeing more than 9% of demand, both taking 12% 
each with Fleetwood seeing just one more estimated passenger than the 
Cleveleys Rank. Whilst both have retained the same share as the previous 
survey, passenger numbers have reduced, more so for the Cleveleys rank. No 
Sunday survey work was practicable in Fleetwood due to it being Tram Sunday 
although weekly estimates include values for a typical Sunday. 

The fifth busiest location is estimated as the Cleveleys Victoria Road West KFC 
rank. This location has seen slightly less reduction than others and has hence 
increased its share of the total passengers from 8% last time to 9% now.  

Having increased share despite losing patronage in the last survey, for this 
survey Nutter Road Cleveleys has seen more decline and has therefore 
dropped in share from 11% to 9% and in rank. This is the last of the ranks 
seeing more than 1% of total passenger numbers. 

As noted above, the focus on ranks has tightened further – in the last survey 
the top seven ranks were those with highest flows, now the top six all have 

Page 39



 

 

22 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

flows of 314 passengers per week or more, with the remaining active ranks 
seeing no more than 34 passengers estimated per week. 

As in the previous survey, eight other ranks were observed and found to have 
some passenger flows during the survey period. Of these, only one saw a 
negligible increase in estimated passengers. All the remainder lost further 
levels of passenger usage to the level that most are almost not really active 
as ranks where passengers go to obtain vehicles more than occasionally. 

Two more ranks have become unused – Princess Street in Cleveleys and Leslie 
Avenue (which actually had no passenger flow in the previous survey but still 
saw some vehicle activity).   

The remainder of the table provides comment where relevant from our 
previous survey site visit, principally of locations no longer used mainly 
because the demand generators, pubs or clubs, has either closed, or in several 
cases been demolished and replaced by other land uses with significantly less 
potential for licensed vehicle usage, particularly for hackney carriages. Some 
signing and markings remain even though the formal orders are believed to 
have been removed.  

Surveyed rank usage 
 
The actual surveyed rank usage is presented below in graphical format.  

 

The graph showing all passengers on all surveyed days shows generally very 
low passenger flows at all times apart from on Friday and Saturday evenings. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

14 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 13

Thu Fri Sat Sun

Total flows all ranks in Wyre District

Page 40



 

 

23 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

This profile of demand is very hard for a fixed vehicle fleet to meet as it needs 
a lot of activity over relatively short periods and provides little remuneration 
at other times. 

The graph showing all locations is shown below: 

 

The graph confirms that there are a large number of active ranks, but a wide 
range of usage between them. The graph is ordered with the busiest rank to 
the rear, with lesser used ranks further forward. It confirms the already noted 
point that the top six ranks provide the bulk of the passengers. However, it 
also shows that the busiest rank is very dominant in evenings but sees 
relatively little flow during the daytimes. A review of the share of this rank 
found that for the observed hours this rank produces 51% of all passengers. 
When compared by hour, from 22:00 Saturday to 03:00 Sunday this location 
produces between 79% and 100% of all passengers and between 74% and 
87% of all passengers from 22:00 Friday until 03:00 Saturday. 

The most notable conclusion from the graphs is that the area sees much more 
demand on Fridays and Saturdays than on other days, but more notably there 
are two very clear peaks, both principally led by Ball Street, Poulton demand. 
The highest number of passengers in any hour was 135 at 01:00 in the early 

Leslie Avenue
Broomfield Road

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

14 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 13

Thu
Fri

Sat
Sun

Wyre - passenger flows for all ranks by hour

Leslie Avenue Adelaide St Kemp St at Lord St

Lord St Post Office Cleveleys Avenue Darbyshire Rd

Grange Road Church Rd Broomfield Road

Nutter Rd Wilco Vic Rd W KFC London St Fleetwood

Vic Rd W Regal Poulton Breck Rd Station Poulton Ball St

Page 41



 

 

24 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

hours of Saturday. There were two hours before and one after when flows were 
101 passengers or more. The Saturday night peak was 109 in the 22:00 hour, 
with an hour before and after with flows over 100 passengers.  

On both nights there are supplementary peaks earlier in the evening at the 
Breck Road (Poulton le Fylde) station rank, suggesting some late night 
revellers arrive there by train.  

Further tests confirmed that the two peaks are quite marked compared to all 
other demand, with the conclusion that the area now sees ‘peaky’ demand in 
terms of evaluation of the significance of unmet demand (see later chapter). 

The overall low levels of demand, however, imply that most hackney carriages 
will need to supplement their income by being available to meet telephone 
demand, with many of the smaller ranks, as in previous years, only providing 
an option for walk-up custom because vehicles are waiting there for such calls. 
This remains an important best practice element of the operation of the trade 
in Wyre, although the trend towards extinction of these smaller ranks 
continues from previous years. 

This is confirmed by a review of the overall level of empty departures from 
ranks. Across all surveyed hours, 53% of all vehicle departures from ranks are 
empty. London Road Fleetwood saw 73%, 70% and 80% on Thursday / Friday 
/ Saturday respectively. The Wilco rank saw 72%, 70% and 67%. Breck Road 
Poulton station rank and Victoria Road West Regal ranks provided more rank-
based custom – 38/42/50 and 37/34/31 % respectively by day. 

Considering overall demand, the average hourly observed number of 
passengers across our surveyed hours was 33 (38 in previous survey) – across 
all hours over the entire Wyre area. For this survey the observed peak hour 
was the 01:00 hour early Saturday morning, with 135 passengers. This is 
reduced from the 152 of the last survey; and the Saturday / Sunday peak is 
now much lower (just 109 in the 22:00 hour Saturday night).  

However, the pattern and level of hours with no passengers were actually 
slightly reduced this time. There were two (was five) hours in the early hours 
of Friday morning, one in the early hours of Saturday morning (same) and four 
(three previously) in the early hours of Sunday morning with no observed 
passenger departures from ranks across the area. Given the overall low level 
of demand, this is a good spread of demand over time, albeit at a very overall 
low level. 

 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

 

25 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Vehicle activity at ranks 
 
During the observation of the rank recordings, the types of vehicles seen at or 
near ranks were also recorded. Some 7,924 (10,190 last time) different vehicle 
arrivals or departures were observed. Of these, 75% (74% last time) were 
hackney carriages. 20% (21% last time) were private cars – a much higher 
level than in 2015 (8%).  
 
With regard to where there were most issues with parked private vehicles, this 
time Kemp St at Lord St fared worst (46% of all records), then Victoria Road 
West Regal (39%). London Street fared better now than in the last survey 
(25% now, was 60%). The issue that had gone away at the Regal rank in the 
last survey has however returned. 
 
Goods vehicles made up a further 2.9% (was 4%) with just 2.2% (2%) being 
private hire vehicles.  
 
In general terms, this confirms reasonable availability of ranks to hackney 
carriages although there is clearly some issue with cars using ranks at times. 
The busy Ball Street location did see 6% of movements as private cars which 
given its busy nature could be an issue. 
 
Active Plates 
 
A further review was undertaken observing the plate numbers of hackney 
carriages active at key locations around the area, near to principal ranks. This 
test was undertaken on the Saturday / Sunday when the rank observations 
were being carried out.  
 
Of the 223 observations, 80% were local hackney carriages, 7% local private 
hire, 4% were missed, 4% were unknown, 4% were possibly Wolverhampton 
and 3% were possibly Blackpool plates. Some of the non-local plates will be 
valid journeys (the Blackpool ones) but it is very unlikely the Wolverhampton 
would be legitimate journeys from that destination. 
 
During the course of the observations, on a Saturday, half (two thirds last 
time, but also half in 2015) of the available Wyre hackney carriage fleet were 
observed. This suggests a less active fleet now. 
 

Page 43



 

 

26 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

33% (nearly half last survey) of the fleet were observed in Poulton, with 11% 
(15%) of the fleet seen in Fleetwood and 14% (21%) in Cleveleys. All these 
figures confirm lower levels of activity now compared to the last survey. 
As is usual now, the highest proportion of the fleet tends to be active earlier 
in Poulton, reducing as time progresses. This demonstrates people choosing to 
work at preferable times, a national trend seen following the pandemic. 18:30 
to 19:30 sees 18%, 23:00 to 00:00 17% and 02:30 to 04:00 12%. Values 
considering total activity by all plates show 24%, 21% and 21% respectively 
suggesting active vehicles are undertaking more trips and more so in the later 
period to attempt to make up for less vehicles working overall. 
 
However, both Fleetwood and Cleveleys proportions of total plates are higher 
later, against the national trend. Early evening in Fleetwood sees 3% of the 
total fleet 16:30 to 17:30 rising to 10% for 01:00 to 02:00; for Cleveleys 6% 
at 15:00 to 16:00 rises to 9% for 21:00 to 22:30. The totals for all movements 
relating to the above are 4%, 11%, 9% and 11%, not as large an uplift perhaps 
because there are more actual plates active. 
 
Unmet demand and its extent 
 
Formal evaluation of the significance of observed unmet demand is discussed 
separately in Chapter 7 below. However, the rank observation information 
provides an opportunity to review the locations and times where unmet 
demand has been identified in Wyre at this time. 
 
Some 784 (555 in the previous survey) hours of rank activity were observed 
in the present survey. Of these hours, 10% (7% last time) had average 
passenger delays of a minute or more. These hours included 39% (was 17%) 
of the passengers observed, although not all of these actually experienced any 
delay. A further 4% (5% last time) of hours saw average passenger delay 
ranging up to 59 seconds. The estimation of significance of unmet demand 
uses a slightly different evaluation (see later). 
 
There were 103 (18 last time) passengers who had to wait 11 minutes or more. 
157 (50) waited between six and 10 minutes. 454 (245) had waits of five 
minutes or less, with many of these being just a minute. This means that, of 
the 2,394 (2,743 last time) people observed leaving ranks, 30% (11% last 
time) experienced unmet demand directly. This suggests a large increase in 
the incidence of unmet demand at this point in time.  
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

 

27 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 
 
A review of the longest waits (average passenger delay over a minute in an 
hour) identified that just over three quarters (half last time) of these occurred 
in times when those having to wait were in fact one of less than ten passengers 
within that hour. These were all periods of very low demand at a range of 
locations, and occurs when people get used to knowing that if they go to a 
rank a vehicle will eventually arrive without them needing to make a phone 
call.  
 
The worst overall passenger queues generated were at Ball Street between 
both 22:00 on the Friday night and 06:00 on the Saturday morning and 22:00 
on the Saturday night and 03:59 in the early hours of Sunday.  
 
Further discussion of the implications of this occurs in the synthesis chapter 
below. 
 
Disability and rank usage 
 
With respect to hackney carriages, 6% (10% in the last survey) of the vehicles 
observed appeared to be wheel chair accessible style. This is similar to the 5% 
in the fleet at the time of the survey, although since that time several more 
hackney carriage WAV have transferred to private hire, reducing that value to 
3% of the hackney carriage fleet. The level of WAV observed was much higher 
at the two Lord Street ranks although the overall hackney carriage movements 
there were small. 
 
A further check was undertaken of those actually observed accessing vehicles 
in wheel chairs at ranks. There were five observations – exactly the same as 
in the previous survey, one each at Poulton Station, Poulton Ball Street (as in 
the last survey) but adding one each at Church Road, London Street and Nutter 
Road, Wilco this time (Fleetwood Lord St Post Office, and two at the Cleveley’s 
Regal rank in the last survey). This is a fairly high level of usage given the low 
level of WAV available in the hackney carriage fleet. It is also increased from 
the two seen in 2015. Given the changes with the pandemic, having the same 
number now as before is remarkable. 
 
There were a further 70 (48 last survey) passengers who appeared to have 
some kind of mobility impairment who were assisted into vehicles by drivers – 
again a good level of assistance. This continues the growth from that seen in 
the last survey which was increased from the 2015 level of 42. The largest 
share for this survey were at Victoria Road West, Regal rank with 39 instances 
noted there – 56% of the total. 

Page 45



 

 

28 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

  

Page 46



 

 

29 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

4 General public views 
 

It is very important that the views of people within the area are obtained about 
the service provided by hackney carriage and private hire. A key element which 
these surveys seek to discover is specifically if people have given up waiting 
for hackney carriages at ranks (the most readily available measure of latent 
demand). However, the opportunity is also taken with these surveys to identify 
the overall usage and views of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles 
within the study area, and to give chance for people to identify current issues 
and factors which may encourage them to use licensed vehicles more. 

Such surveys can also be key in identifying variation of demand for licensed 
vehicles across an area, particularly if there are significant areas of potential 
demand without ranks, albeit in the context that many areas do not have 
places apart from their central area with sufficient demand to justify hackney 
carriages waiting at ranks.  

The surveys tend to be undertaken during the daytime period when more 
people are available and when survey staff safety can be guaranteed. Further, 
interviews with groups of people or with those affected by alcohol consumption 
may not necessarily provide accurate responses, despite the potential value in 
speaking with people more likely to use hackney carriages at times of higher 
demand. Where possible, extension of interviews to the early evening may 
capture some of this group, as well as some studies where careful choice of 
night samples can be undertaken. 

Our basic methodology requires a sample size of at least 200 to ensure stable 
responses. Trained and experienced interviewers are also important as this 
ensures respondents are guided through the questions carefully and 
consistently. A minimum sample of 50 interviews is generally possible by a 
trained interviewer in a day meaning that sample sizes are best incremented 
by 50, usually if there is targeting of a specific area or group (e.g. of students, 
or a sub-centre), although conclusions from these separate samples can only 
be indicative taken alone. For some authorities with multiple centres this can 
imply value in using a higher sample size, such as 250 if there are two large 
and one moderate sized centre. 

It is normal practice to compare the resulting gender and age structure to the 
latest available local and national census proportions to identify if the sample 
has become biased in any way. 

 

 

Page 47



 

 

30 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

More recently, general public views have been enlisted from the use of council 
citizens’ panels although the issue with these is that return numbers cannot 
be guaranteed. The other issue is that the structure of the sample responding 
cannot be guaranteed either, and it is also true that those on the panel have 
chosen to be there such that they may tend to be people willing to have 
stronger opinions than the general public randomly approached. 

Finally, some recent surveys have placed an electronic copy of the 
questionnaire on their web site to allow interested persons to respond, 
although again there needs to be an element of care with such results as 
people choosing to take part may have a vested interest. 

For this survey, a total of 246 (250 last time) people were interviewed across 
the Wyre licensing area. There were 50 interviews in each of Thornton, 
Fleetwood, Cleveleys and Poulton. The Garstang sample only reached 46. 
Interviews were in July 2022 around the same time as the rank observations.  

The sample interviewed the same proportion of males and females as were 
identified in the latest 2021 census results. The previous survey had 
interviewed more males than the census proportion (53% compared to 48% 
in the census). 

With regards to age, a more detailed specification was used for this survey. 
The closest match was for the 60-79 group (29% interviewed, 27% in census) 
with the two other over-represented groups being the 20-39 (30% interviewed 
compared to 20%) and 40-59 (30% interviewed compared to 26%). As might 
be expected, the younger group (up to 19) was underrepresented by the 
interviews (7% compared to 20%, many of these would not be available for 
interview) and 3% of the 80+ compared to 8% in the census. 

Over the full area, 17% said they were not from the area itself (10% last time). 
This proportion was highest in Garstang, with 46% of those responding saying 
they were not from the area. After this, the next highest non-local response 
was in Poulton, with 10%. For Fleetwood and Thornton just one of those 
interviewed said they were not from the area. For the different areas between 
50 and 78% of those interviewed in each area said they were from that area 
itself.  

 

 

 

 

Page 48



 

 

31 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Across the area, 49% said they had made a trip in the last three months by 
private hire only, 10% by hackney carriage only and 13% by hackney carriage 
and private hire. This suggests 72% have made a licensed vehicle trip in the 
last three months in the area (up from 46% in the last survey). Poulton had 
the highest level of hackney carriage only 20%, with Thornton second 14% 
and (surprisingly) Garstang third with 13%. Cleveleys saw no hackney carriage 
only and Fleetwood saw just 2% hackney carriage only (which both seem very 
low).  

Fleetwood had the highest private hire only level of recent trips -72% followed 
by Thornton 58%, Poulton 56%, Cleveleys 48% and Garstang 9%. For use of 
both kinds of vehicle, values were highest in Poulton (22%) then Thornton 
(16%), Cleveleys (10%), Garstang 9% and finally Fleetwood 8%. Garstang 
had the highest non-use at 70%, with Cleveleys 42%, Fleetwood 18%, 
Thornton 12% and finally Poulton with just 2%.   

When asked about frequency of usage of licensed vehicles, the average level 
of usage was 2.6 (1.1 2018 and 2.2 2015) trips per person per month. 
Interestingly, the level was highest in Fleetwood (4.8) and lowest in Garstang 
(0.6) whereas Fleetwood had been lowest in 2018 and highest in 2015.  

People saying ‘never use a licensed vehicle’ when asked about frequencies 
used was 20% across the area, but dominated by the 40% saying this in 
Cleveleys matching the high level of non-users quoted in the previous 
question. The most frequent response across the area was less than once a 
week but more than twice a month (22%). For both Thornton and Poulton this 
value rose to 30% with Cleveleys 18% and Garstang just 9%. The highest ‘3 
or more times a week’ was Fleetwood with 16%.   

When asked about specific usage of hackney carriage vehicles, as always, 
levels were lower. Across the area, there are 0.6 trips per person per month 
by hackney carriage – 22% of the total licensed vehicle value. For this value, 
the highest is Fleetwood (0.9) and the lowest joint between Thornton and 
Garstang (both 0.3). Poulton is 0.6 and Cleveleys 0.7. This implies that 16% 
of Thornton, 19% of both Fleetwood and Poulton, 31% of Cleveleys and 51% 
of Garstang licensed vehicle trips are made by hackney carriage (again the 
latter seems high). 

Across the area 26% said they could not remember seeing a hackney carriage 
in Wyre. This was 22% in Poulton, 30% in Thornton and Fleetwood and 31% 
in Cleveleys. This response was not used at all in Garstang, nor was the 
response people could not remember when they last used one. In terms of not 
remembering last usage, this was lowest in Poulton at 38%, higher in 
Fleetwood and Cleveleys (41%) and highest in Thornton at 48%.  

Page 49



 

 

32 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

People told us how they normally got a licensed vehicle in the area. 73% (89% 
previous survey) said they telephoned, with 20% (11%) saying they got them 
at ranks, 5% freephone, 2% hail and 1% app (none of these last three were 
quoted in 2018). The highest rank usage was in Poulton at 30% (though none 
said they used them in 2018), Fleetwood 25% and Cleveleys 17%. Garstang 
respondents said 10% used ranks but 85% phone and 5% used freephones 
there (but only a smaller number answered there). App usage was actually 
only quoted in Thornton (6%), with telephones there 81%. Telephones were 
also high in Cleveleys at 83%. Poulton was lowest at 59%.  

74% of all interviewees provided at least one company they would phone for 
a vehicle. Of these, just 2% gave three names (two in Poulton and one in 
Thornton), 26% gave two names and 72% a single name. This suggests a 
relatively high satisfaction with companies used but also a reasonable range 
of choice for customers.  

20 different companies were named (slightly less than the 22 from last time). 
However, eight were only mentioned once, and another just twice. All others 
were mentioned three times or more. Eight of these were local private hire 
companies, one was a hackney carriage group (not requiring its own operating 
licence) and the other two were Blackpool-based companies. There were 27 
other local private hire operators who received no mention, most of whom 
were smaller or niche operators. 

In terms of share no company was dominant across the area. However, 
Fleetwood was dominated by one group (81%, which appeared to be a hackney 
carriage group) with a second local company taking a further 13%. Another 
local company took 4% with one unknown taking the remainder. Fleetwood 
saw the strongest domination. 

Seeing the next largest dominant company was Poulton, with the top company 
there taking 52% of share of mentions given. Second and third, with 23% and 
13% were the two Blackpool companies which is sensible given the proximity 
of that area to the boundary. Four other local companies obtained between 
one and three mentions each. 

Cleveleys was similarly dominated by one company with 36%, another local 
company with 21%, the two Blackpool companies with 18% and 8% and four 
other local companies with between 1 and 3 mentions each. 

Garstang saw two local companies with 39% and 17% each plus the bulk of 
the unknown small single mentions for this survey. 

Thornton had much more of a mix, with the top three companies only taking 
27%, 21% and 17% each. The two Blackpool companies took 14% and 3% 
with another local company taking 11% and another just three mentions. 

Page 50



 

 

33 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

This confirms that the area remains one that operates in licensed vehicle terms 
as at least five or more separate areas with relatively little interplay between 
them. This makes overall service to the public more difficult with each area 
needing sufficient vehicles internally to meet all demands.  

When looking at the overall area response, the top company had 17% of 
mentions, two shared 15% of responses each (as in 2018) with a fourth taking 
11% of the share. All but the top company were mixed fleet companies whose 
vehicles were often seen waiting at ranks and these were as in 2018.  

The two Blackpool-based companies took the next two slots with 10% and 9% 
of mentions (one company had increased from a few mentions to 10% and the 
other from 5% last time). Two other local companies not mentioned in 2018 
came next (6% and 5%) with three more local companies next with 3% (was 
2% 2018), 3% (4%) and 1% (6%) of share. Two of these were companies in 
Garstang. Interestingly the names quoted for both of these ended ‘Cabs’ even 
though one company is actually named ‘Cars’.  

The large number of smaller company quotes in 2018 were not repeated this 
time, with the focus as above, suggesting either agglomeration or a focus by 
people on the larger companies now. This is a general national result of the 
pandemic. 

65% of those interviewed provided at least one rank and if they used it or not. 
Of these respondents, just 2% named three, 27% two and 70% a single rank. 
This resulted in a total of 213 mentions of a range of ranks. The previous 
survey only obtained 66 total mentions, suggesting much better response for 
this survey.  

27 ranks were named (20 last time), but five, with nine total mentions, were 
in Blackpool (12 last time) (but this time none of these were noted as used). 
However, the lower response last time saw 71% saying they used the ranks 
they named. This time, just 23% said they used the named ranks.  

In a similar response to that for companies, responses tended to be focussed 
on the area people were interviewed in. The largest response came for Victoria 
Road West Thornton Cleveleys but did not specify which rank there. It was the 
top mention for both Cleveleys (71%) and Thornton (46%) and therefore 
overall, but only 15% of people said they used the rank they named. 

Next most-mentioned was Poulton station rank which obtained 40% of the 
Poulton and 20% of the Thornton mentions. 24% said they used this rank.  

London Street Fleetwood came third for the whole area. 40% of those in 
Fleetwood mentioned this rank (with a few mentions in Cleveleys but none 
elsewhere). 14% said they used it. 

Page 51



 

 

34 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Ball Street Poulton obtained 9% of mentions when taking into account some 
called it the St Chads Church rank. Most mentions were from Poulton but there 
were again some from Thornton. 40% said they used this rank, the highest 
level of quoted usage of an active rank. 

The next two most quoted locations were in fact booking offices. 7% quoted a 
cab office in Poulton and 53% said they used this. 6% quoted a cab office in 
Fleetwood and 8% said they used it. 

5% overall (12% in Thornton, 9% in Cleveleys and 5% in Poulton named 
Nutter Road rank but none said they used it.  

5% named the pair of ranks at Lindel Road / Bromford Road (all from 
Fleetwood interviewees) and 38% said they used it.  

Of interest in the remaining ranks are Fleetwood Hospital (Pharos St) where 
all five quoting it (in Fleetwood) said they used it. The person quoting the Ferry 
Port Fleetwood rank also said they used it (markings long gone, so this must 
be a booking). The two people quoting Booths Garstang also said they used 
that rank. This is marked near the store exit in their private car park and may 
well be bookings. 

The responses above between recent usage, method of hire, rank and 
company knowledge, do show some inconsistencies between responses – such 
as for Cleveleys where people said none used hackney carriage only recently, 
but 17% said they normally got vehicles from ranks. The situation was similar 
in Fleetwood. In Garstang 13% said they used hackney carriage only and 10% 
said they got vehicles from ranks even though there are few if any hackney 
carriages and no active council provided ranks. 

The fact that most major companies call themselves either ‘cab’ or ‘taxi’ and 
that many have liveries on hackney carriage vehicles appears to have led to 
people in the area viewing the vehicles they use as ‘taxis’ or ‘cabs’ and having 
little real appreciation of the formal differences between hackney carriage and 
private hire. In most cases, people will phone for a vehicle from home and be 
serviced by a liveried hackney carriage vehicle.  

People were asked to rank their opinions about various aspects of the service 
provided by licensed vehicles in Wyre. The graphs below show the views, firstly 
for the full area and then area by area. 

Page 52



 

 

35 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

  

 

The dominant response across the area is towards most aspects of the service 
being ‘very good’, though to very different degrees. Vehicle cleanliness has the 
best performance, with no poor or very poor and 75% of respondents saying 
‘very good’. Driver hygiene, appearance and behaviour are also focussed on 
very good and good scores, although vehicle repair has 3% feeling this was 
poor. Driver knowledge and professionalism, though having high ‘very good’ 
scores also see more average scores and some poor. As is normal around the 
country, price sees the worst performance, with 2% each poor and very poor 
and only 22% very good. However, good and very good even for this aspect 
total some 65%. 

As with other aspects, there are variations by area. Fleetwood: 

 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Vehicle Cleanliness

State of Vehicle Repair

Driver Behaviour

Driver Appearance

Driver standard of Hygiene

Driver Professionalism

Driver Knowledge of the Area

Price

Wyre view of aspects of service

Very good Good Average Poor Very poor

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Vehicle Cleanliness

State of Vehicle Repair

Driver Behaviour

Driver Appearance

Driver standard of Hygiene

Driver Professionalism

Driver Knowledge of the Area

Price

Wyre view of aspects of service - Fleetwood

Very good Good Average Poor Very poor

Page 53



 

 

36 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

The very poor score for Fleetwood price is up to 4%, with 2% for poor and only 
44% for the two ‘good’ levels. This suggests people here are more sensitive to 
price. Poor scores for driver professionalism were 6% and for driver knowledge 
10% showing concerns over these aspects here.  

 
 
Cleveleys sees no poor or very poor scores at all for price; in fact the overall 
tone of their responses is that there is no poor or very poor for any element, 
although many aspects are mainly ‘good’ rather than very good, apart from 
vehicle cleanliness as in all other locations. 
  

 

Thornton sees very poor scores for driver behaviour and for price. Poor scores 
also occur for driver knowledge and professionalism suggesting overall views 
here are more negative than in the other areas. However, there are only very 
good and good scores for vehicle cleanliness. Driver knowledge and 
professionalism also focus more on average than other areas. 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Vehicle Cleanliness

State of Vehicle Repair

Driver Behaviour

Driver Appearance

Driver standard of Hygiene

Driver Professionalism

Driver Knowledge of the Area

Price

Wyre view of aspects of service - Cleveleys

Very good Good Average Poor Very poor

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Vehicle Cleanliness

State of Vehicle Repair

Driver Behaviour

Driver Appearance

Driver standard of Hygiene

Driver Professionalism

Driver Knowledge of the Area

Price

Wyre view of aspects of service - Thornton

Very good Good Average Poor Very poor

Page 54



 

 

37 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 

 

For Poulton, state of vehicle repair appears to see more poor scores than in 
other areas other than Fleetwood. There are no very poor scores and a 
generally otherwise similar pattern to the overall. Price also is dominated by 
good scores rather than very good, so is again a slightly more sensitive issue 
than all other places than Fleetwood. 

 

The Garstang response is the most positive with only prices showing any very 
poor, and no poor scores at all. Very good responses dominate with excellent 
driver knowledge, vehicle cleanliness and state of vehicle repair notable.  

These graphs do show overall views but also reinforce that the areas of Wyre 
are all individual in terms of how people feel about the service provided. 
However, the overarching view is the service is generally very good. 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Vehicle Cleanliness

State of Vehicle Repair

Driver Behaviour

Driver Appearance

Driver standard of Hygiene

Driver Professionalism

Driver Knowledge of the Area

Price

Wyre view of aspects of service - Poulton

Very good Good Average Poor Very poor

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Vehicle Cleanliness

State of Vehicle Repair

Driver Behaviour

Driver Appearance

Driver standard of Hygiene

Driver Professionalism

Driver Knowledge of the Area

Price

Wyre view of aspects of service - Garstang

Very good Good Average Poor Very poor

Page 55



 

 

38 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

As in the previous survey the dominant matter that might encourage or 
increase use of hackney carriages was if they were more affordable. For this 
survey, a higher level of response was obtained than last time. Overall 72% of 
interviewees gave at least one item that would encourage or increase hackney 
carriage usage. However, there was a strong variation in level of response with 
Fleetwood highest at 96% and Garstang lowest at 26%. Cleveleys saw 60%, 
Thornton 86% and Poulton 88%. This generally ties in with the level of 
satisfaction scores.  

62% of people gave one response, 38% two and just one person three 
responses. This provided a total of 246 responses. As already noted, 63% of 
these were ‘if they were more affordable’. 11% said more hackney carriages 
they could phone for, 9% more hackney carriages to hail or at ranks, and 7% 
each for better vehicle quality and having a screen between the passenger and 
driver. Variation was not that great across the different areas. However, 
Garstang respondents only said if more affordable and more hackney carriages 
to phone for. Fleetwood and Thornton had higher levels of wanting more 
hackney carriages at ranks or to hail and 10% of Poulton interviewees said 
they would use more hackney carriages were the vehicle quality better. One 
person in Fleetwood said they would use them more if they were not charged 
to carry their wheelchair (this is illegal). 

79% (92%) of respondents said they did not need, nor know anyone who 
needed an adapted licensed vehicle to travel, the reduction suggesting more 
need for adapted vehicles now than in the previous survey. Of those needing 
an adapted vehicle, the highest proportion said they, or someone they knew, 
needed a wheel chair accessible vehicle. This remained the same as in the 
previous survey. 

One person in Fleetwood said they had given up waiting for a hackney carriage 
but then said this was from home. The other respondent from Cleveleys did 
not say where. We therefore suggest there is no real latent demand in the 
area, as in the last survey. 

In regards to people considering there were enough hackney carriages in the 
area, there was a wide range between the areas. In Garstang just 29% felt 
there were sufficient, 38% Cleveleys, 51% Fleetwood and 55% Poulton and 
Thornton. On average this was 48%, much lower than the 93% saying they 
felt there were in the last survey. This is a strong change from last time 
although for Garstang there are no real ranks available. 

 

 

 

Page 56



 

 

39 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

People were asked about their change in travel behaviour from pre Covid to 
the time of the survey, and from then to in the future. The dominant overall 
response was no change, 67% saying no change from COVID to now, and 78% 
saying no further change going forward. For the whole area the net impact of 
people using hackney carriages more or less was zero, for private hire there 
was about a 5% gain (from pre Covid to now); looking forward a year the 
response was the same but only 4% for private hire gain. 

People were asked about COVID security measures. They were asked to say if 
these were essential, important, useful, or not relevant. The results below for 
the full area suggest less concern in July 2022 although there was still a strong 
feeling that people preferred screens between the driver and passenger, and 
to a lesser extent that people felt the vehicle had been cleaned.  

 

There were differences as before between areas. With reference to the screen 
the strongest views were 74% in Fleetwood and 73% in Cleveleys. Poulton and 
Thornton saw 54% with Garstang a low 18%.  

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

A screen between driver and passenger

Driver opening and closing the doors

Driver wearing a mask

Passenger required to wear a mask

Clear that driver has cleaned vehicle…

Views about COVID security measures - full area

E I U N

Page 57



 

 

40 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

  

Page 58



 

 

41 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

5 Key stakeholder consultation 
 

The following key stakeholders were contacted in line with the 
recommendations of the BPG: 

 Supermarkets 
 Hotels 
 Pubwatch / individual pubs / night clubs 
 Other entertainment venues 
 Restaurants 
 Hospitals 
 Police 
 Disability representatives 
 Rail operators 
 Other council contacts within all relevant local councils 

Comments received have been aggregated below to provide an overall 
appreciation of the situation at the time of this survey. In some cases, there 
are very specific comments from given stakeholders, but we try to maintain 
their confidentiality as far as is possible. The comments provided in the 
remainder of this Chapter are the views of those consulted, and not that of the 
authors of this report.  

Our information was obtained by telephone, email, letter or face to face 
meeting as appropriate. The list contacted includes those suggested by the 
Council, those drawn from previous similar surveys, and from general internet 
trawls for information. Our target stakeholders are as far as possible drawn 
from across the entire licensing area to ensure the review covers the full area 
and not just specific parts or areas. 

For the sake of clarity, we cover key stakeholders from the public side 
separately to those from the licensed vehicle trade element, whose views are 
summarized separately in the following Chapter. 

Where the statistical analyses in Chapter 2 demonstrate low levels of 
wheelchair accessible vehicle (WAV) provision, an increased emphasis will be 
given to the issue in terms of the focus of stakeholders but also in specific 
efforts to contact disabled users and their representatives. However, it must 
be remembered that none of our consultation is statutory and for cost effective 
and fixed budget reasons we limit our attempts to contact people generally to 
a first attempt and reminder.  

 

Page 59



 

 

42 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Our information was drawn from those contacted in 2015 and 2018 plus a 
refreshed review of potential key stakeholders by the council following 
inception. A large number of respondents did not respond within the time 
period available. 

An attempt was made to enable people to respond using an internet form, with 
three responses. Further details follow. 

Supermarkets 
One supermarket responded and said their customers did use local licensed 
taxis. Further details of the response are in the general summary below. 

Hotels 
No response was made by any hotel. 

Public houses 
No public house nor representative of them made any response. 

Restaurants 
No restaurants provided any response. 

Hospitals 
No comment was provided from any of the hospitals contacted. 

Police 
No police response was received. 

Disability 
A more detailed disability user questionnaire was undertaken the results of 
which are provided in a separate chapter. 

Other Council contacts 
No other council contacts had any response. 

General response 
The general internet response summary came from a social club, a shopping 
centre and a supermarket. All said their customers used local licensed vehicles. 
A third said people used the location Freephone, with the remainder using their 
own mobile phones to call for a vehicle. Only one (a third) was aware of a rank 
people might use. Two thirds said they had not received any complaints about 
the service. One third – one respondent – said there were issues in vehicles 
not arriving in a timely manner particularly when staff are waiting to go home. 
Further, customers that are delayed late at night can end up becoming noisy 
whilst waiting.  

Page 60



 

 

43 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

The shopping centre said they were happy to allow drop off and collection but 
they did not get involved with any element of provision as far as them not 
advertising any taxi service provision in any way.  

  

Page 61



 

 

44 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

  

Page 62



 

 

45 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

6 Trade stakeholder views 
 

The BPG encourages all studies to include ‘all those involved in the trade’. 
There are a number of different ways felt to be valid in meeting this 
requirement, partly dependent on what the licensing authority feel is 
reasonable and possible given the specifics of those involved in the trade in 
their area. 

The most direct and least costly route is to obtain comment from trade 
representatives. This can be undertaken by email, phone call or face to face 
meeting by the consultant undertaking the study. In some cases to ensure 
validity of the work being undertaken it may be best for the consultation to 
occur after the main work has been undertaken. This avoids anyone being able 
to claim that the survey work was influenced by any change in behaviour. 

Most current studies tend to issue a letter and questionnaire to all hackney 
carriage and private hire owners, drivers and operators. This is best issued by 
the council on behalf of the independent consultant. Usual return is now using 
an on-line form of the questionnaire, with the option of postal return still being 
provided, albeit in some cases without use of a freepost return. Returns can 
be encouraged by email or direct contact via representatives.  

Some authorities cover private hire by issuing the letter and questionnaire to 
operators seeking they pass them on when drivers book on or off, or via vehicle 
data head communications. 

In all cases, we believe it is essential we document the method used clearly 
and measure response levels. However, it is also rare for there to be high 
levels of response, with 5% typically felt to be good and reasonable. 

For this survey, the licensing section issued letters with questionnaires and an 
online link to all known hackney carriage drivers and private hire operators, 
with a request they pass it to their drivers. A discussion was also held with the 
current trade representative by phone. 

There are presently 406 (445 previously) dual drivers. Assuming all had an 
opportunity to complete the form, the response is just under 9% (5% last 
time, but 7% in 2015), a higher than usual level of response for this kind of 
survey.  

89% of those responding said the licensed vehicle trade was their only or main 
source of income. 6% worked part time with no other income and 6% worked 
part time but had other sources of income. 

Page 63



 

 

46 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Of these, 71% (73% last time) said they drove hackney carriages, 26% (18%) 
private hire, with the final 3% (5%) said they drove both kinds of vehicle. Last 
time 5% said they did not drive but were involved in the trade. 

The average level of experience from those responding was 13 (11 last time) 
years. The longest quoted length of service was 39 (34 last time) years. Those 
saying they drove hackney carriages appeared to have longer length of service 
(15 years compared to 8). 

The average week worked was 5.1 (5.5 last time) days, with 40% saying they 
had worked five days (18% last time), 34% (59% last time) six days in the 
last week, 11% seven days (none last time), 3% four days, 6% two days (both 
zero last time) 6% (9% last time) saying they had not worked in the last week.  

For all respondents, the average hours worked was 41 (45 last time), on the 
high side. The maximum hours worked quoted were 85 (70 last time). 

Hackney carriages tended to work less days (4.8 compared to 5.7) and less 
hours (39.7 compared to 45.1). 

Respondents told us the kinds of work they normally undertook. All the private 
hire gave one answer only, whilst the hackney carriage respondents gave one, 
two (8%) or three (28%) responses. The person saying they drove both kinds 
of vehicle also provided three responses. Across all responses, none mentioned 
chauffer, corporate or contract work. 

For private hire, a third said they undertook only advanced hire work whilst 
the remainder said they undertook just immediate hire through bookings. 

28% of hackney carriage respondents said they undertook immediate hire 
from both bookings and ranks plus advanced hire work. 8% said their work 
was both immediate hire from ranks and bookings, with the remaining 64% of 
hackney carriages only undertaking immediate hire from ranks.  

88% (95% last time) owned and drove their own vehicle. However, 56% (68% 
last time) said someone else drove their vehicle when they were not using it. 
Various periods were quoted for when the vehicle was used by someone else, 
with the top period quoted being ‘days’ (33%), then weekend evenings (28%), 
a mix (22%) and nights (17%). Of those saying no-one drove their vehicle 
now, 13% said this had changed since pre-COVID, i.e. a reduced level of 
vehicle sharing. 

 

 

Page 64



 

 

47 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

An extremely high 94% (86% last time) said they accepted pre-bookings. 81% 
of these were stated as being via an office. One person, 3%, said via an app. 
There did not appear to be any independent hackney carriages responding to 
the questionnaire this time given that the two negative responses were a nil 
response and one from a private hire respondent. 

The hackney carriage respondents told us a range of ranks they serviced. This 
time there was a response from all areas drivers – last time there did not 
appear to be any Poulton respondents. 41% of hackney carriages responding 
said they serviced three ranks in Fleetwood (with just one only naming two 
ranks). 38% were from Poulton, all naming the two ranks there apart from one 
that said they also serviced Cleveleys. The remainder, 21% named Cleveleys 
ranks, all naming three, although three of the five included Poulton as one of 
their three ranks. 

As already noted, both active ranks in Poulton were mentioned. Fleetwood saw 
more ranks named overall including London Street (all mentioned this), 
Darbyshire Road (five), Lindel Road (three), Grange Road (eight), Lord Street 
(once only) and one mentioned Adelaide Street which is actually a booking 
office. For Cleveleys, the Jolly Tar was mentioned four times, Cleveleys Avenue 
three times, the Regal twice, Nutter Road once and the Tramway once.  

These responses suggest Fleetwood and Poulton tend to have more localised 
fleets whilst Cleveleys vehicles also service Poulton. 

Taking all rank responses, 16% of mentions were London Street Fleetwood, 
13% Poulton station and 13% Grange Road Fleetwood, with no other rank 
obtaining more than 6% although some were quoted using different names. 

A different question sought the method they felt they got most fares. Many 
gave multiple responses. Across all respondents, including the private hire, 
44% of mentions were phone, 33% rank, 16% hailing, 4% school contracts 
and 3% ‘other’. There was a single response that suggested that person got 
all their work from ranks. No others were that dependent on ranks. This is a 
further move away from ranks which had already been noted between 2015 
and the last survey. COVID simply hastened this decline. 

Respondents told us what factors affected their choice of shift. The highest 
proportion, 21% (30% last time), said family commitments determined the 
hours they worked. This time 14% said they avoided times when people were 
likely to be intoxicated (none said this in previous surveys). However, 11% 
said they worked nights because they knew there was more need at that time. 
One person worked at times with most fares available whilst another worked 
nights because they shared a vehicle. 

79% felt there were enough hackney carriages at this time in the area.  

Page 65



 

 

48 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Most told us why they thought the limit benefitted the public. 60% of those in 
favour said it maintained a high standard of vehicle and service (a third said 
this last survey). 20% felt it provided regular drivers, 10% felt it kept over-
ranking in check and 10% said it ensured the trade was shared between those 
committed to the trade. Some private hire agreed with the limit. However, one 
hackney carriage driver shared frustration that they wanted a plate but could 
not get one and so had been renting for 9 years; four private hire did not think 
the limit was of any benefit.  

Those responding told us how often they obtained wheel chair customers both 
needing to travel in their chair and by transferring. 25% (eight drivers) of 
those responding said they got a daily booking for someone travelling in a 
wheelchair with 17% getting a booking for someone that transferred. The most 
frequent usage was 27% saying they got 27% travelling from a rank, 25% 
from bookings, 7% from contracts, 43% from ranks transferring, 33% from 
bookings and 8% from contracts. However, 41% never got a wheelchair bound 
fare from a rank, 28% never from a booking, 87% never from contracts, with 
lower values of 14%, 17% and 83% respectively for never getting people 
travelling in wheel chairs who transferred from their chair. However, these 
numbers are not insignificant. Unusually, the rank-based frequencies tend to 
be higher than the bookings. This may arise from the level of vehicles choosing 
to wait at ranks whilst waiting for bookings. 

Questions were asked regarding COVID impacts. 60% of those responding (all 
those that replied) said they were aware. Whilst 75% of responses were up to 
10 people, one person suggested they were aware of 25 that had left.  

Less responded to the question about how levels of rank and booked trips had 
changed. 33% said rank work and 40% said bookings were about the same. 
50% said rank work was less now, with 35% saying bookings were less. 
However, 17% said rank work was higher now with 25% saying they got more 
bookings. 

People gave a wide range of comments about the effects of the pandemic and 
plans looking forward. Some were pessimistic, many mentioned driver 
shortages whilst others said they were now busier. One made their plans to 
develop their business clear and were confident they would succeed. Several 
mentioned the much greater difficulty in getting people willing to work nights 
given that reduced supply had made passenger behaviour worse at those 
times. Many mentioned there was reduction in levels of people going out at 
night still. 

 

Page 66



 

 

49 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Other comments were provided. One said they felt the only passenger queues 
were for a few hours on Saturday nights. Another sought police presence at 
key trouble times and a fare increase. Two others made a similar comment 
explaining the shortage of night vehicles was due to fear of violence and 
damage to vehicles and lack of any support from enforcement or police at 
these times. 

 

  

Page 67



 

 

50 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 

  

Page 68



 

 

51 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance 
 

It is first important to define our specific view about what constitutes unmet 
demand. Our definition is when a person turns up at a hackney carriage rank 
and finds there is no vehicle there available for immediate hire. This normally 
leads to a queue of people building up, some of who may walk off (taken to be 
latent demand), whilst others will wait till a vehicle collects them. Later 
passengers may well arrive when there are vehicles there, but because of the 
queue will not obtain a vehicle immediately.  

There are other instances where queues of passengers can be observed at 
hackney carriage ranks. This can occur when the level of demand is such that 
it takes longer for vehicles to move up to waiting passengers than passengers 
can board and move away. This often occurs at railway stations but can also 
occur at other ranks where high levels of passenger arrivals occur. We do not 
consider this is unmet demand, but geometric delay and although we note this, 
it is not counted towards unmet demand being significant. 

The industry standard index of the significance of unmet demand (ISUD) was 
initiated at the time of the introduction of section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act 
as a numeric and consistent way of evaluating unmet demand and its 
significance. The ISUD methodology was initially developed by a university and 
then adopted by one of the leading consultant groups undertaking the surveys 
made necessary to enable authorities to retain their limit on hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers. The index has been developed and deepened over time to 
take into account various court challenges. It has now become accepted as the 
industry standard test of if identified unmet demand is significant.  

The index is a statistical guide derived to evaluate if observed unmet demand 
is in fact significant. However, its basis is that early tests using first principles 
identified based on a moderate sample suggested that the level of index of 80 
was the cut-off above which the index was in fact significant, and that unmet 
demand therefore was such that action was needed in terms of additional issue 
of plates to reduce the demand below this level, or a complete change of policy 
if it was felt appropriate. This level has been accepted as part of the industry 
standard. However, the index is not a strict determinant and care is needed in 
providing the input samples as well as interpreting the result provided. 
However, the index has various components which can also be used to 
understand what is happening in the rank-based and overall licensed vehicle 
market. 

 

 

Page 69



 

 

52 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

ISUD draws from several different parts of the study data. Each separate 
component of the index is designed to capture a part of the operation of the 
demand for hackney carriages and reflect this numerically. Whilst the principal 
inputs are from the rank surveys, the measure of latent demand comes from 
the public on-street surveys, and any final decision about if identified unmet 
demand is significant, or in fact about the value of continuing the current policy 
of restricting vehicle numbers, must be taken fully in the context of a careful 
balance of all the evidence gathered during the survey process.  

The present ISUD calculation has two components which both could be zero. 
In the case that either are zero, the overall index result is zero, which means 
they clearly demonstrate there is no unmet demand which is significant, even 
if other values are high. 

The first component which can be zero is the proportion of daytime hours 
where people are observed to have to wait for a hackney carriage to arrive. 
The level of wait used is ANY average wait at all within any hour. The industry 
definition of these hours varies, the main index user counts from 10:00 to 
18:00 (i.e. eight hours ending at 17:59). The present index is clear that unmet 
demand cannot be significant if there are no such hours. The only rider on this 
component is that the sample of hours collected must include a fair element of 
such hours, and that if the value is non-zero, review of the potential effect of 
a wider sample needs to be considered. 

The other component which could be zero is the test identifying the proportion 
of passengers which are travelling in any hour when the average passenger 
wait in that hour is greater than one minute.  

If both of these components are non-zero, then the remaining components of 
the index come into play. These are the peakiness factor, the seasonality 
factor, average passenger delay and the latent demand factor (see below for 
further explanations). 

Average passenger delay is the total amount of time waited by all passengers 
in the sample, divided by the total number of passengers observed who 
entered hackney carriages.  

The seasonality factor allows for the undertaking of rank survey work in periods 
which are not typical, although guidance is that such periods should normally 
be avoided if possible particularly as the impact of seasons may not just be on 
the level of passenger demand, but may also impact on the level of supply. 
This is particularly true in regard to if surveys are undertaken when schools 
are active or not.  

Periods when schools are not active can lead to more hackney carriage vehicles 
being available whilst they are not required for school contract work. Such 

Page 70



 

 

53 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

periods can also reduce hackney carriage demand with people away on holiday 
from the area. Generally, use of hackney carriages is higher in December in 
the run-up to Christmas, but much lower in January, February and the parts 
of July and August when more people are likely to be on holiday. The factor 
tends to range from 0.8 for December (factoring high demand level impacts 
down) to 1.2 for January / February (inflating the values from low demand 
levels upwards).  

There can be special cases where summer demand needs to be covered, 
although high peaks for tourist traffic use of hackney carriages tend not to be 
so dominant at the current time, apart from in a few key tourist authorities. 

The peakiness factor is generally either 1 (level demand generally) or 0.5 
(demand has a high peak at one point during the week). This is used to allow 
for the difficulty of any transport system being able to meet high levels of 
peaking. It is rarely possible or practicable for example for any public transport 
system, or any road capacity, to be provided to cover a few hours a week.  

The latent demand factor was added following a court case. It comes from 
asking people in the on-street questionnaires if they have ever given up waiting 
for a hackney carriage at a rank in any part of the area. This factor generally 
only affects the level of the index as it only ranges from 1.0 (no-one has given 
up) to 2.0 (everyone says they have). It is also important to check that people 
are quoting legitimate hackney carriage rank waits as some, despite careful 
questioning, quote giving up waiting at home, which must be for a private hire 
vehicle (even if in hackney carriage guise as there are few private homes with 
taxi ranks outside). 

The ISUD index is the result of multiplying each of the components together 
and benchmarking this against the cut-off value of 80. Changes in the 
individual components of the index can also be illustrative. For example, the 
growth of daytime hour queueing can be an earlier sign of unmet demand 
developing than might be apparent from the proportion of people experiencing 
a queue particularly as the former element is based on any wait and not just 
that averaging over a minute. The change to a peaky demand profile can tend 
towards reducing the potential for unmet demand to be significant.  

 

 

Finally, any ISUD value must be interpreted in the light of the sample used to 
feed it, as well as completely in the context of all other information gathered. 
Generally, the guide of the index will tend not to be overturned in regard to 
significant unmet demand being identified, but this cannot be assumed to be 

Page 71



 

 

54 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

the case – the index is a guide and a part of the evidence and needs to be 
taken fully in context. 

The table below compares the various elements of the ISUD index over the 
last three surveys: 

Element / Year 2022 2018 2015 2008 
Average passenger delay (mins) 1.85 0.5 0.4 0.2 
% hours with any off peak delay 17.29 13.6 6.7 0 

% passengers travelling in 
hours with a minute or more 

APD 

39.57 16.8 14 9.3 

Peakiness Factor .5 .5 .5 1 
Seasonality 1 1 1 1 

Latent Demand 1 1 1 Not 
calc 

Overall ISUD calculated 632 57.3 20 0 
 
The current index is well above the cut-off level of 80 which is accepted as the 
level at which unmet demand should be counted as significant.  

Average passenger delay has increased a large amount since 2018. However, 
the off-peak component has not increased as much as the component 
measuring the proportion of people travelling when average passenger delay 
is over a minute. No other element has changed, with the area retaining a 
peak profile and no real latent demand.  

There are strong mitigating factors however that make conclusion that more 
plates are needed incorrect. Matters include very high levels of operation of 
hackney carriages on private hire circuits and resulting very low levels of 
demand at many ranks for most periods. The three-way split of the fleet 
between areas increases the level of vehicles needed to meet demand in 
specific areas. The huge disparity in demand between the two northern areas 
and Poulton, and particularly the peaky nature of Poulton demand are also 
strong contributory factors, as is reduced levels of driver availability both 
generally and also at specific times. Further discussion of this section is 
included in the synthesis chapter.  

Page 72



 

 

55 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

8 Disability users questionnaire 
 

A specific questionnaire was issued by the council to those known to need some 
form of adapted licensed vehicle. The survey obtained 25 responses. 
Respondents told us how often they used both hackney carriage and private 
hire. Of those responding, 36% never used hackney carriages and 12% never 
used private hire. 24% and 32% rarely used the respective vehicle types. This 
left 40% who did use hackney carriage and 56% that did use private hire. 

The age profile saw 52% of respondents reporting age 60 to 79, 20% 20 to 
39, 16% 80 plus, 8% 40 to 59 and 4% 0 to 19. This is a fair spread of ages. 

With reference to those using either kind of vehicle, for hackney carriages 20% 
of those using them used them almost daily, 20% once or twice a week, half 
once or twice a month and the remaining 10% once or twice a year. For private 
hire the respective values were 14%, 29%, 43% and 14%. This suggests for 
those using hackney carriages, they tend to use them more than private hire 
although overall more use private hire. 

The overview of the service provided found 32% saying satisfactory, 24% bad, 
20% dreadful, and 12% each either good or excellent – a mixed set of views 
but showing that action is needed based on this sample. 

In terms of the conditions covered, one person (4%) stated four (mobility, 
hearing, mental health and long standing health issues), 24% gave three, 36% 
two and 36% just a single issue. In total, there were 49 quotes of conditions 
from the 25 people, with mobility making 45% of these, long standing health 
issues 29%, 6% each hearing or mental health, 4% vision and 2% learning 
difficulties. This demonstrates a wide range of overall need. 

In terms of aids needed, 32% gave three, 28% two and 40% one, suggesting 
some complex needs. Of the total of 48 quotes of aids, 25% said a wheelchair 
all of the time, 21% a chaperone, 17% each a wheelchair some or most of the 
time, or walking sticks, 13% hearing aids, 6% sight aids and 2% an assistance 
dog. In many cases a person needed both use of a wheel chair and someone 
with them, which can be an issue for some smaller WAV style vehicles. 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



 

 

56 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

In terms of describing what people would need 36% gave two responses, 32% 
one, 18% three and 14% four. Of the total of 63 responses given the top 
response was 24% saying they were a wheel chair user and the vehicle would 
need to be a purpose built WAV. 16% each would either need a private hire 
vehicle driver to contact them when the vehicle arrived, or would require the 
private hire vehicle to be exactly on time. 11% would require a text message 
that their private hire had arrived. 8% would require assistance between place 
and vehicle.  

6% each said either they were a wheel chair user but did not need a WAV but 
that they would need help transferring from their wheelchair, OR that they 
could not step up into a high vehicle so needed a saloon. 5% said they would 
need the driver to tell someone else about journey progress with the final 2% 
saying they needed to be sure the vehicle and driver would happily take their 
assistance dog. 

38% (of just 13 responses) said they felt hackney carriage drivers did enough 
to enable them to travel. 31% each said either drivers usually went above and 
beyond to assist them when travelling, or did not seem to understand their 
disability or travel needs. With regard to private hire drivers, 41% said private 
hire drivers did not understand their disability or needs. 32% said they did 
enough to enable the person to travel. 27% said private hire drivers went 
above or beyond. This is generally a positive response, but clearly there is 
room for improvement although it appears hackney carriage drivers seem to 
give marginally better service.  

When asked their views on the availability of WAV in Wyre and demand for 
them, all gave a response. However, 40% (36% private hire) of responses 
were that people did not know. Of those giving a clear answer, 93% (81% 
private hire) felt there were too few WAVs to meet demand with only one 
(three private hire)  saying they felt there were just about the right number. 
This is a true reflection of the higher proportion in the private hire fleet. 

Respondents told us what they would do if a suitable hackney carriage was not 
available when they needed one. 50% of respondents gave one answer, 41% 
two answers and 9% three answers. Of all the 35 responses made, 23% each 
said they would phone a private hire operator or use other public transport. 
20% would call a friend or family member. 14% would get where they wanted 
to go under their own steam. 11% would wait till a suitable hackney carriage 
was available whilst 9% would use a less suitable vehicle but as a result would 
need more assistance.  

 

Page 74



 

 

57 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

For a similar question, but for private hire, 50% gave one answer, 33% two 
and the remaining 17% three. The highest response was 27% saying they did 
not attend their activity or appointment. 20% called a friend or family member, 
18% used other public transport, 16% gave other comments including two 
people saying they would not go out, 9% each said they would wait for a 
suitable vehicle or get to their destination under their own steam. Just 2% 
would use a less suitable vehicle and therefore need more assistance. Despite 
these occurrences being low numbers, the seriousness of the implications are 
such that zero tolerance of such should really be the normal. The licensing 
section told us they were being regularly made aware of such instances. 

In respect of private hire operators, all but one person told us their views on 
the service obtained from operators when phoning to book a WAV or other 
adapted vehicle. 54% gave one answer, 21% each gave two or three and 4% 
(one person) gave four responses. Of the total of 47 responses given, the top 
response was 19% saying they found it hard to get WAV as they were told 
they were pre-booked for school runs. 15% each either said they found private 
hire operators never or rarely able to provide a suitable vehicle, or they were 
usually told they did not have a suitable vehicle, or that they were usually 
unable to get a suitable vehicle for an immediate booking. Just 13% said they 
were usually able to get appropriate vehicles. 11% did not feel private hire 
operators made reasonable adjustments to help them travel, 9% said the 
service received was good and the final 4% said they did not tell operators for 
fear of discrimination. 

 

  

Page 75



 

 

58 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 

  

Page 76



 

 

59 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

9 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions 
 

This Hackney carriage demand survey on behalf of Wyre Council has been 
undertaken following the guidance of the BPG and other recent case history 
regarding unmet demand and its significance. This chapter summarises each 
separate section, draws them together and provides conclusions to this survey. 

Background and context 
This current survey of hackney carriage operation in Wyre was carried out 
between March 2022 and January 2023 following our proposal provided to the 
Council in December 2021. On street and driver consultation occurred in July 
with rank work in July (very similar to previous studies). An additional disability 
user survey was also prepared and circulated by the Council. 
 
The authority has a number of over-arching policies set at the County level, 
including provision of ranks and conditions for contracts operated for the 
Education and Social services County departments. The area has its own 
updated Local Plan as well as the Fylde Coast highway and transport 
masterplan feeding transport developments. 
 
Whilst hackney carriage vehicle numbers have not increased since DfT 
statistics were first issued, private hire peaked in 2009, slumped to 2015, saw 
some resurgence just before the pandemic and then saw a large drop, only 
just returning early in 2022. Their numbers at the time of the survey were 
lower than those in 1997 when data was first collected. Driver numbers 
followed a similar pattern – with all local drivers having the ability to choose 
between driving hackney carriages and private hire vehicles as they see fit. 
 
Current levels of wheel chair accessible vehicle are currently at their lowest 
level, just 3%, although there has been some increase on the private hire side, 
but overall values are not high. There had been some growth since the last 
survey, but this has recently been lost.  
 
The overall fleet structure, with large numbers of one-man bands, remains 
stable. Given that Lancashire county contracts have to go to companies, there 
are many of these that are purely set up to ensure they can operate on these 
contracts, which provide ready income.  
 
 
An extra mixed fleet company has arisen in the Cleveleys area, but otherwise 
the overall fleet structure has remained constant since the last survey, 
remarkable given the pandemic issues. The level of independent hackney 

Page 77



 

 

60 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

carriages remains as small as at the time of the last survey, totalling just ten 
over the two northern parts of the area (with none in Poulton or Over Wyre). 
 
Most hackney carriages also have company liveries. The range of liveries in an 
area is dependent on the number of active companies – with Poulton having 
just one and Cleveleys more. 
 
Rank observations 
Ranks have remained stable since the last survey. The trend to reducing use 
of ranks continues with a few more now effectively unused compared to the 
last survey. The overall estimated weekly usage of ranks in 2022 is around 
18% less than that in 2018, although this is actually a slowing in the decline 
that had been seen from 2015 (38%). 
 
Present estimated demand is just under 3,700 passengers in a typical week. 
However, this remains 32% more than the very low level observed in 2008.  
 
Ball Street remains the busiest location, but with slightly more dominance than 
in 2018, with 35% of all estimated weekly demand there (was a third), and 
mainly at weekend nights. The station rank in Poulton remains the second 
busiest also increasing its overall share from 12% in the last survey to 19% 
now.  
 
London Street Fleetwood and Victoria Road West, Regal both see 12% of 
estimated weekly demand. Fifth busiest is also in Cleveleys near KFC. This 
location saw slightly less over all reduction in share even though actual total 
passenger numbers appeared reduced. 
 
This survey is like the last in seeing eight other ranks that had some passenger 
flows. Two more ranks effectively dropped out of usage – Princess Street 
Cleveleys and Leslie Avenue. 
 
Graphically, demand is clearly much higher on Fridays and Saturdays than in 
the week, and there are also two very clear peaks on both nights, mainly at 
Ball Street. The top six ranks now provide the bulk of passengers.  
 
Ball Street is very dominant as a rank – taking 51% of all passengers for the 
hours observed, and providing 79% to 100% of all passengers in the hours 
from 22:00 Saturday to 03:00 Sunday and 74-87% Friday/Saturday. 
 
Both peak flows are led by Ball Street Poulton demand. The peak was 01:00 
in the early hours of Saturday morning, with the Saturday night peak in the 

Page 78



 

 

61 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

22:00 hour. The Friday/Saturday peak saw four hours with over 100 
passengers per hour whilst the Saturday/Sunday had just three such hours. 
Both nights see supplementary peaks that suggest arrivals by train into the 
area at the Poulton station rank.  
 
The nature of demand has now become ‘peaky’ compared to previous years. 
Further, overall demand levels imply need for hackney carriages to supplement 
their income. However, the Wyre practice of vehicles waiting at a large range 
of ranks remains a benefit although the trend towards extinction of these 
smaller ranks continues apace. 
 
Overall, 53% of all rank departures are empty vehicles. London Road 
Fleetwood and the Wilco rank in Cleveleys saw very high levels of empty 
departures.  
 
Average hourly observed passenger numbers over the hours surveyed was just 
33 this time (38 last time) – both not high. The highest peak was 135 (152 
last time) passengers.  
 
Despite lower flows than the previous survey, the number of hours with no 
passengers was either the same or reduced to two early Friday (was five), one 
early Saturday (same) and four Sunday (three). 
 
A similar level – 75% - of observed vehicles at or near ranks were hackney 
carriages. The level of car abuse was also very similar at 20%. Kemp St at 
Lord St and the Regal rank were worst affected. 
 
The plate observations found 80% to be local hackney carriage, 7% local 
private hire, 4% Wolverhampton and 3% Blackpool based. 
 
Review of active plates found around half (two-thirds last survey) of the fleet 
active on a Saturday in the area. Poulton saw the highest proportion, followed 
by Cleveleys and then Fleetwood – as in the last survey, but at lower levels. 
Those in Poulton were also observed more frequently. About a third of the fleet 
was only seen in Poulton, 11% (15%) only in Fleetwood and 14% (6% last 
time) only in Fleetwood.  
 
The national trend of less working late was observed in these observations 
although those active were undertaking more trips. Further, Fleetwood and 
Cleveleys plate observations bucked that trend with more active later. 
 

Page 79



 

 

62 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Moderate levels of unmet demand were identified. Of the 784 (555) hours 
observed, 10% (7%) had average passenger delays of a minute or more, 
accounting for 39% (17%) of all passengers travelling in these hours.  
 
Although this level of unmet demand appears high, detailed review for this 
survey identified, as in the last survey, that just over three quartrs (half last 
time) of all waits were at times when those having to wait were one of less 
than ten passengers within that hour.  
 
Ball Street saw the worst overall passenger queues, occurring from 22:00 
onwards on both Friday and Saturday nights through to the early hours of the 
next morning.  
 
At the time of the survey, just 6% of vehicles observed appeared to be WAV 
style, lower than the 10% of last time. We are aware this level may well have 
decreased further since the survey. Despite this, the same level of people using 
wheel chairs were observed, some five people all at different ranks across the 
area. The numbers assisted by drivers had increased significantly to some 70 
in the period of the survey. 
 
On street public views 
From the 246 people interviewed, 72% (46% last time) said they had used a 
licensed vehicle in the area in the last three months. Of these, 10% had used 
hackney carriage only, 13% hackney carriage and private hire. The highest 
level of hackney carriage only use was in Poulton at 20%. There was concern 
with the high level of quoted hackney carriage usage in Garstang, suggesting 
people there think their private hire service is actually hackney carriage 
operated.  
 
Overall stated usage was increased to 3 (1.1 2018, 2.2 2015)  trips per person 
per month. For pure hackney carriage usage, the level was lower at 0.6. 
Despite this being increased from the previous survey (0.1) this time 26% 
could not remember seeing a hackney carriage in Wyre.  
 
For this survey, across the area 73% said they phoned (down from 89% last 
time) whilst rank proportion was increased from 11% to 20% this time. 
However, this time freephone, hail and app all appeared compared to not being 
mentioned in the last survey. Garstang respondents said 10% used ranks, this 
value was 30% in Poulton. As previously, particular companies phoned were 
specific to each area, with Poulton  and Cleveleys also seeing two Blackpool-
based companies quoted. Garstang saw two companies but also a large 
number of single quotes of other companies. 
 

Page 80



 

 

63 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

People named 27 different ranks although five were in Blackpool. 23% said 
they used the ranks they named, much reduced from the 71% last time. Rank 
quoting was specific to areas where people were interviewed. The most quoted 
rank was one on Victoria Road West but people did not specify which one. 
Poulton Station rank was second. Two locations named as ranks were booking 
offices (in Fleetwood and Poulton).  
 
The overall views for the public are effectively for a fleet that is mixed hackney 
carriage and private hire generally very little differentiated.  
 
People generally felt the service provided by licensed vehicles was very good. 
Vehicle cleanliness was highest scoring with, as normal around the country, 
price seeing worst performance. This was supported by people saying they 
would increase use or begin to use hackney carriages more if they were more 
affordable.  
 
Responses suggested increased need for disability friendly vehicles with a 
focus on wheel chair accessible style.  
 
No latent demand was identified, despite a much lower 48% (93% last time) 
saying they felt there were enough hackney carriages in the area. Fleetwood 
and Poulton both saw higher levels considering there were sufficient, with 
Garstang respondents stating just 29% felt there were enough. 
 
Key stakeholder views 
As is more usual now, post COVID, there were just three responses from the 
range of key stakeholders contacted. Only one was aware of a rank that might 
be used. One had issues with timely arrivals of vehicles when their staff were 
waiting to be taken home by licensed vehicle.  
 
Trade views 
A higher than usual level of around 9% (5% last time) of driver response was 
obtained. Average experience in the trade was 13 (11) years. The average 
week worked was 5.1 (5.5) days and 41 (45) hours, marginally reduced. 
 
88% (95%) were owner-drivers, but a relatively high 56% (68%) said 
someone else also drove their vehicle when they were not using it. An 
extremely high 94% (86%) accepted pre-bookings. Possibly one independent 
responded given they said they got all their work from ranks.  
 
 
 

Page 81



 

 

64 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

A high number of ranks were quoted as used, consistent in general with the 
observations from the rank work and from what the public said. London Street 
Fleetwood got most mentions followed by Poulton Station and Grange Road 
Fleetwood.  
 
For the first time, there were 14% of responses from drivers that they avoided 
times when passengers might be less hospitable although 11% said they 
worked nights because of higher demand. 79% including many private hire felt 
there were enough hackney carriages. There was strong support for the limit 
and many explained why they felt this benefitted the public. There were 
requests for more police assistance at times. 
 
Formal evaluation of significance of unmet demand 
All the main three component elements of the index of significance of unmet 
demand have moved to mean the current conclusion from the index is that 
there is unmet demand which is significant in the Wyre area. Average 
passenger delay has gone from 0.5 minutes to 1.85 minutes, the proportion of 
passengers travelling in hours with a minute or more average passenger delay 
has risen from 16.8% to 39.57%, and (less  change) off peak hours with delay 
have increased from 13.6% to 17.29%.  

However, inspection of the results finds many occurrences of unmet demand 
arise from the low levels of demand at ranks, from the three-way split of the 
fleet across the area and the strong peaky nature of Poulton demand. All 
militate against provision of service to the public. 

Disability Issues and Survey 
As already noted just 5% (10% last time) of vehicles observed at ranks 
appeared to be wheel chair accessible compared to the actual 3% in the fleet. 
This may relate to there being WAV appearing vehicles in the fleet which are 
not in fact actually WAV capable. Actual usage by passengers in wheel chairs 
was the same as in the 2018 surveys. 
 
A very detailed survey was undertaken that identified significant issues with 
provision of service to people needing adapted vehicles or assistance when 
travelling. The 25 responses were from a varied set of need but highlighted 
glaring issues strongly impacting on peoples’ abilities to live how they preferred 
to, with many missing appointments as a result.  
 
However, the actions needed were not focussed on hackney carriage operation 
but applied equally across both kinds of vehicle and to operators. The overall 
details suggest a strong change in attitude and operation is needed across the 
industry. This does arise from the fact that most hackney carriages are 
operated in association with companies and have a livery. 

Page 82



 

 

65 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Synthesis 
Wyre is a very different area in terms of hackney carriage operation than many 
others. Recent trends have reinforced this difference. In essence, the bulk of 
licensed vehicle usage in the three main, more urban, parts of the area is 
undertaken by hackney carriage vehicles, most of which work on the main 
company telephone circuits and are liveried.  
 
For this part of the area, the public facing licensed vehicle service is effectively 
one-tier, with the bulk of people travelling in hackney carriages. This has not 
changed despite COVID. 
 
Again, despite increased levels of passenger waiting (even though passenger 
demand itself is reduced), there is no real latent demand in the area – people 
know if they go to ranks they will eventually get a vehicle. Overall demand has 
reduced, increasing dependency of many hackney carriages on bookings, 
further reducing the level of vehicles likely to be at ranks. There is not really a 
great amount of competition between hackney carriage and private hire 
because they are effectively the same fleets.  
 
We found two examples where booking offices were effectively seen by the 
public as ranks. 
 
Our analysis demonstrates that around three quarters the incidences of unmet 
demand can be attributed to passengers arriving at relatively low demand, 
quiet ranks, or busy ranks at quiet times, and then waiting for a vehicle to 
arrive. These are related to low demand and high passenger expectation and 
confidence, and should not be counted as unmet demand for the purposes of 
significance of unmet demand.  
 
There is, however, a clear issue that the demand at Poulton particularly is 
suffering from a reduced level of drivers willing to service those hours – this 
has got worse since COVID and the last survey. This issue does need to be 
addressed to ensure the continued safe growth of the night life of Poulton. The 
previous report had warned that unmet demand at Poulton might become 
much more significant. There were plans to test how this had progressed which 
were thwarted by the COVID pandemic. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



 

 

66 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

The classic response to identification of such unmet demand is the release of 
further plates. Plate review found a reduced level of vehicles in the early hours 
suggesting that methods to encourage more vehicles to choose to work at this 
time could have a better impact than adding new plates. That is backed up for 
this survey by drivers asking for more assistance from marshals at such busy 
times, which may encourage those now choosing not to service such demand 
perhaps to return. 
 
One question that has not been answered is the operating protocols in place 
for hackney carriage vehicles sitting at ranks. It is clear many leave the ranks 
to service bookings, and that some small demand ranks benefit from this 
practice. However, there can be an issue arising if several bookings are made 
and take all the vehicles away from the ranks and a passenger appears at the 
rank – leading to unmet demand. This is less likely to occur where there are 
several companies operating and likely to be more severe where there is only 
a single company providing vehicles.  
 
The other valid reason for attempting to encourage the current plates to meet 
demand which can clearly be met if vehicles were making themselves available 
is that if extra plates are issued, they cannot be restricted to just meeting the 
demand that is contributing to the unmet demand significance. They are 
available to operate at all hours. This would further dilute the earnings received 
from lower demand hours and may have the perverse result of shifting more 
vehicles towards telephone service rather than continuing to wait at ranks. The 
result would be increased levels of off peak or quiet demand period unmet 
demand. 
 
It would therefore be prudent to attempt to encourage more availability at key 
times from current plates before any offer of additional plates were considered. 
The impact of fare increases should be tested after their introduction to ensure 
the correct result had occurred. 
 
Another concern arises from the very specific definition of wheel chair 
accessible vehicle, mainly to allow vehicles to service Lancashire County 
contracts. At the time of the survey, this was still providing a modest level of 
vehicles that were being used, since the survey this has worsened. 
 
Conclusions 
The current survey finds high levels of unmet demand which are significant – 
with a focus on Poulton but also covering the other two areas with active ranks. 
This is occurring even though overall levels of passenger demand are further 
reduced (albeit at a lesser rate than between the previous two surveys).  
 

Page 84



 

 

67 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

However, the almost unique nature of the urban licensed vehicle operations, 
plus further reduced levels of apparent willingness to work in the small hours, 
produces problems meeting demand across the area. In Poulton this is related 
to high demand, in other areas it relates to much lower demand levels but an 
overall confidence from people that waiting at ranks will eventually provide 
them with a vehicle.  
 
There are concerns from Over-Wyre and from Fleetwood and Poulton that the 
public perceive booking offices as ranks, which could lead to issues with people 
being uninsured when travelling. This may require public education and trade 
encouragement to better define the differences in vehicle types. Or it might be 
prudent to ensure that all waiting spaces adjacent to booking offices are 
designated as ranks. Given that most vehicles servicing the booking offices 
appear to be hackney carriages this should not give rise to major issues. 
 
The mixed fleet nature of the operations in the area does not help in this 
regard, but on balance such operations tend to better service the public than 
operation of totally separate fleets. 
 
This leads to a related issue – there will be a protocol in place for hackney 
carriage vehicles that are attached to companies as to what priority is given to 
demand from ranks or from the booking office at busy times. Hackney carriage 
plates are primarily issued to provide public service at ranks and through 
hailing. This may require more specific observations to test if this is an actual 
issue in the area or not. There is additional information within the survey data 
that could be used to identify how often passengers arrive just after vehicles 
have left the rank empty, rather than leaving with passengers.  
 
  

Page 85



 

 

68 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

  

Page 86



 

 

69 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

9 Recommendations 
On the basis of the evidence gathered in this Hackney carriage demand survey 
for Wyre Council, our key conclusion is that there is evidence of unmet demand 
for the services of hackney carriages which is significant at this point in time 
in the Wyre Council licensing area.  

However, we would not recommend issue of further plates which our 
experience suggests would be counter to the aims of improving service. 
Provision of marshals in Poulton is essential for public and trade safety but 
further discussion is needed across the area with operators of hackney 
carriages to try to identify how public service levels to the active ranks can be 
improved. This may require encouragement for operators to ensure that ranks 
are not left empty in favour of bookings.  

We would also recommend additional work, if possible, with disability groups, 
to identify how they obtain vehicles that meet their specific needs, and to 
identify measures across the industry to provide better for disability needs. 
This would best be achieved by use of focus groups in each area where the 
trade, users with disabilities and licensing representatives met together to 
work towards ensuring higher level of meeting needs that are best met by 
people travelling in licensed vehicles.  

The new Best Practice Guidance may introduce need for an ‘Integrated Service 
Plan’ to consider such issues.  

 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report of: Meeting Date 
Mark Billington,  

Corporate Director 
Environment 

Licensing Committee 28th March 2023 

 
Temporary Event Notice - Lancashire College Of Agriculture, St Michaels Road, 

Bilsborrow on 24th and 25th June 2023 
 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
 

To consider a Temporary Event Notice (TEN) proposed to cover 
licensable activities at Lancashire College Of Agriculture, St Michaels 
Road, Bilsborrow on 24th and 25th June 2023.  
 

2. Outcomes 
 

 2.1 
 
 

To consider the objection and determine whether to allow the event to go 
ahead or issue a Counter Notice in respect of this TEN to prevent the 
event from going ahead.  
 

3. Recommendation/s 
 

 3.1 
 
 

An objection has been received from the Environmental Health team at 
Wyre Council. As such there must be a hearing for the Licensing 
Committee to be able to consider whether to allow the event or issue a 
Counter Notice preventing the event from going ahead.  
 

4. Background 
 

 4.1 
 
 

On 27th February 2022 the Licensing Authority was served with a 
Temporary Event Notice by Miss Hazel Stansfield on behalf of 
Lancashire Federation of Young Farmers Clubs for Lancashire College 
Of Agriculture, St Michaels Road, Bilsborrow. A redacted copy of the 
notice is attached at Appendix 1 of this report.  
 

 4.2 Following receipt of the notice the Licensing Authority circulated it to the 
Environmental Health team at Wyre Council and Lancashire 
Constabulary.  
 

 4.3 Information submitted in support of the notice is attached at Appendix 2 
of this report.  

Page 89

Agenda Item 5



 
 4.4 Nick Clayton of the Environmental Health team at Wyre Council has 

objected to the event taking place on the grounds that it will undermine 
the licensing objective of Prevention of public nuisance. A copy of this 
objection is attached at Appendix 3 of this report.  
 

 4.5 National Policy Considerations: 
 
Section 7 of Revised Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing 
Act 2003 refers to Temporary Event Notices. At paragraph 7.2 the 
guidance is clear that the system of permitted temporary activities is 
intended as a light touch process, and as such, the carrying on of 
licensable activities does not have to be authorised by the licensing 
authority on an application. Instead, a person wishing to hold an event at 
which such activities are proposed to be carried on (the “premises user”) 
gives notice to the licensing authority of the event (a “temporary event 
notice” or “TEN”).  
 

 4.6 National Policy Considerations: 
 
Paragraph 7.6 of the same guidance goes on to state that the police or 
EHA (“relevant persons” for the purposes of TENs) may intervene to 
prevent such an event taking place by sending an objection to the 
licensing authority, which the licensing authority must consider on the 
basis of the statutory licensing objectives and decide whether the event 
should go ahead. A relevant person may also intervene by agreeing a 
modification of the proposed arrangements directly with the TENs user 
(see paragraph 7.36). If a relevant person sends an objection, this may 
result in the licensing authority imposing conditions on a TEN but only 
where the venue at which the event is to be held has an existing 
premises licence or club premises certificate. When giving a TEN, the 
premises user should consider the promotion of the four licensing 
objectives. The licensing authority may only otherwise intervene if the 
statutory permitted limits on TENs would be exceeded (see paragraphs 
7.15-7.22).  
 

 4.7 National Policy Considerations: 
 
Paragraph 7.10 states that the police and EHA have 3 working days from 
when they are given the notice to object to it on the basis of any of the 
licensing objectives.  
 

 4.8 Local Policy Considerations: 
 
Key message 06 Temporary event notice givers are encouraged to 
submit their TEN at least 4 weeks before an event, where an existing 
premises licence is in operation.  
 
TENs for larger events such as music festivals, or community events 
which include licensable activities, will be referred to the Wyre Safety 

Page 90



Advisory Group and notification of these events should be made at least 
3 months in advance to allow for proper engagement with all the 
regulatory bodies. 
 

5. Key issues and proposals 
 

 5.1 
 
 

As stated at paragraph 4.4 of this report, Nick Clayton of the 
Environmental Health team at Wyre Council has objected to the event 
taking place on the grounds that it will undermine the licensing objective 
of Prevention of public nuisance.  
 

 5.2 As a consequence of the objection by a relevant person a hearing must 
be held to determine the matter. As a part of the decision making process 
today members should refer to the written submission provided by the 
Lancashire Federation of Young Farmers Clubs at Appendix 4 of this 
report.  
 

 5.3 At this hearing members should consider the facts of this case against 
the quoted statutory guidance and relevant legislation. The Committee 
must then consider whether to allow the event to proceed or serve a 
serve a Counter Notice to prevent it from going ahead.   
 

 5.4  Members must also take note that the premises intended for use under 
the relevant notice does not hold a premises licence under the Licensing 
Act 2003. Therefore, addition of conditions to the notice is not possible in 
relation to this case.  
 

 5.5 All relevant parties have been invited to attend the hearing. They have 
also been sent a copy of the report and a notice of the hearing procedure. 
  

 

Financial and legal implications 

Finance 
There are no financial implications directly associated with 
this application. 
 

Legal 

Any party to the hearing has the right of appeal to the 
Magistrates Court within 21 days if they are aggrieved by 
the decision.  
The hearing should be conducted following the principles 
of natural justice and in accordance with the Council’s own 
hearing procedure. 
 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 

Page 91



are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
 
risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 
community safety   asset management x 

equality and diversity x  climate change x 

sustainability x  ICT x 

health and safety x  data protection x 
 

Processing Personal Data 
 
In addition to considering data protection along with the other risks/ implications, the 
report author will need to decide if a ‘privacy impact assessment (PIA)’ is also 
required.  If the decision(s) recommended in this report will result in the collection 
and processing of personal data for the first time (i.e. purchase of a new system, a 
new working arrangement with a third party) a PIA will need to have been completed 
and signed off by Data Protection Officer before the decision is taken in compliance 
with the Data Protection Act 2018.  
 

report author telephone no. email date 

Patrick Cantley 01253 887281 patrick.cantley@wyre.gov.uk 17th March 
2023 

 
 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

Licensing Act 2003 17th March 2023 Licensing Act 2003 (legislation.gov.uk) 

S.182 Guidance  17th March 2023 

Revised guidance issued under section 
182 of the Licensing Act 2003 
(December 2022) (accessible) - 
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Wyre Council – 
Statement of licensing 
policy 2021 - 2026 

17th March 2023 https://www.wyre.gov.uk/downloads/file/
1020/licensing-act-policy-2021-2026  

 
 
List of appendices 
Appendix 1 – TEN000157 
Appendix 2 – Information submitted in support of notice  
Appendix 3 – Environmental Protection objection 
Appendix 4 – Written submission provided by Lancashire federation of Young Farmers 
Clubs 

Page 92

mailto:patrick.cantley@wyre.gov.uk
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible
https://www.wyre.gov.uk/downloads/file/1020/licensing-act-policy-2021-2026
https://www.wyre.gov.uk/downloads/file/1020/licensing-act-policy-2021-2026


Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99

Appendix 2 - Information submitted in support of event notice 



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Appendix 4  
 

 
From: Hazel Stansfield < > 
Sent: Sunday, March 19, 2023 9:41 PM 
To: Cantley,Patrick <Patrick.Cantley@wyre.gov.uk> 
Cc: Grimshaw, Mary <Mary.Grimshaw@wyre.gov.uk>; Courtenage, Daphne 
<Daphne.Courtenage@wyre.gov.uk>; Clayton, Nick <Nick.Clayton@wyre.gov.uk>; Clarke, Wayne 
<Wayne.Clarke@wyre.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: TEN000157  

  
  
This email is from an external email address  
Do not click any links or open attachments unless you know the content is safe.  
Never disclose your user details or password to anyone. 
Hello Patrick,  

 

Following on from our TENS license being rejected, myself on behalf of Lancashire 

Federation of Young Farmers Clubs’ would like to issue the below statement to be read at the 

hearing;  

 

 

Lancashire Federation of Young Farmers’ club is a youth organisation opened up to members 

aged 10-28 from all backgrounds of life, being a charity we solely rely on social events and 

fundraising to keep our federation afloat. Young farmers is all about fun, learning and 

achievement, it’s a space where likeminded people can come together to learn new skills, 

meet new people and have fun whilst doing so.  

 

On Saturday 24th June we are hosting Northern Area Field Day, a chance for members to get 

away from the farm for a day and compete in a range of competitions.  

 

Over 700 Members aged 10-28 from across Lancashire, Isle of Man, Yorkshire, 

Northumberland, County Durham, Cumbria & East Riding will travel to Myerscough College 

for the day. As young farmers this is a fantastic opportunity for us to showcase our only 

agricultural college in Lancashire and hopefully attract new students to attend from all across 

the north. We only have to look across the boarder at Cumbria who have unfortunately lost 

their agricultural college, Newton Rigg, to see the sad reality of how it is impacting young 

people's ability in the area to further their education in farming and agriculture. 

 

Lancashire Federation of Young Farmers’ club only get the chance every 7 years to host the 

event as it takes turns going round the different counties each year, having the competitions 

through the day and a social event at night. The social is a chance for members to celebrate 

the successes of the day, as months and months go into preparation for the day.  

 

44 suicides were registered in England and Wales in 2020 for those working in farming 

according to the Office of National Statistics, this social event is a chance for Young Farmer 

members from across the north to socialise and meet likeminded members. Often the only 

social interaction week on week members get is going to the auction.  

 

Page 129

mailto:Patrick.Cantley@wyre.gov.uk
mailto:Mary.Grimshaw@wyre.gov.uk
mailto:Daphne.Courtenage@wyre.gov.uk
mailto:Nick.Clayton@wyre.gov.uk
mailto:Wayne.Clarke@wyre.gov.uk
https://url6.mailanyone.net/scanner?m=1pe0mm-0003Td-5E&d=4%7Cmail%2F90%2F1679262000%2F1pe0mm-0003Td-5E%7Cin6f%7C57e1b682%7C10356808%7C12137228%7C641781A0391229A5CAAED59B59AB080F&o=%2Fphtw%3A%2Fwtsnaw.lmigfr%2F.ifoomtecl%2Fpinngaced&s=TX6Rhm3I62kF5sfTpSKoz-cOkEs
https://url6.mailanyone.net/scanner?m=1pe0mm-0003Td-5E&d=4%7Cmail%2F90%2F1679262000%2F1pe0mm-0003Td-5E%7Cin6f%7C57e1b682%7C10356808%7C12137228%7C641781A0391229A5CAAED59B59AB080F&o=%2Fphtw%3A%2Fwtsnaw.lmigfr%2F.ifoomtecselaw%2Fcip&s=ebNEHPxd7H9tRt4JzCzii-43YJw


Here is an extract from an email we have received from Myerscough College which I have 

also forwarded to you  “Myerscough college have reviewed the properties in the vicinity of 

the event you have planned with us on 24th June 2023. And I have written confirmation that 

the following properties are owned and occupied by Myerscough College and would, 

therefore, be unaffected by any noise caused by your event: 

  Lodge House (opposite) 

  Oakdene (opposite side of the road approximately 200m from the event) 

  East and West Cottages (adjacent to the event site) 

  The row of cottages to the west of the event are approximately 400m away (as the 

crow flies) and the first one of this row is also owned and occupied by Myerscough. 

  Lee Farm is approximately 700m to the south; owned and occupied by Myerscough. 

Ashlea and Brookfield Manor are on the same road and close to Oakdene but further away” 

 

I have forwarded this email onto yourselfs in support of our application. There was 

stipulation from a member of the environmental health that we would put things in our risk 

assessment and not follow them, (“however it is not possible to condition Temporary Event 

Notices”) as a youth organisation we would be at a serious breach of our safeguarding policy 

and furthermore our insurance would be invalid and the risk of loosing our charity 

commission if this was the case. Members Saftey is the forefront of our minds with any social 

event.  

 

To reference the concerns of large numbers of members entering and leaving the site at once 

due to this being a Northern Area Event majority of members from different countys will be 

travelling by bus this cutting the number of cars considerably. Where the location of 

myerscough within Lancashire it is likely majority of Lancashire members will also travel via 

bus apart from Bilsborrow YFC. Buses will be labelled with clubs on the front window 

making it easy for members to locate after the event. The security firm will also remain on 

site until every member has left, this is something which happens after every social event.  

 

Where the event is being held it is a good 200meters away from the nearest residential 

property’s which are owned and lived in by myerscough workers making it unlikely to create 

Public nuisance issues within the area of the residential property.  

 

No members will be permitted to leave the site by foot other than those living on the 

myerscough campus. This will be implemented by Harris fencing securing the social event 

and car park and the use of security. 

 

To add to the application this is not the first ten’s license I have applied for on behalf of 

Lancashire federation. I have been the license holder of two last year July 2022 & August 

2022 on Chipping showfield & October 2021 at Gisburn Auction mart. As a federation we 

were also granted a TENS last week for a social being held by Bury YFC with no objections. 

The social committee (which feeds into the Lancashire trustees) planning the event on the 

24th have held numerous events over the years and this isn’t just the first event they have 

ever held. We hope this experience can help install confidence in you that we are able to 

safely and effectively manage this social event. 

 

As a county federation we do not wish to have to take this further and hope you can 

reconsider the time and effort put into the social event for Northern Area members and grant 

us a TENS licence.  

 

Page 130



Hazel Stansfield, Northern Area Field Day Chairman on behalf of Lancashire Federation of 

Young Farmers Clubs.  

 

Please can you confirm Patrick that the date of the hearing will be Tuesday 28th March? Will 

this be something we can attend in person? And if this is a no we would like a formal copy of 

the minutes from the meeting including who attended and a full copy of the meeting.  

 

Many Thanks  

Hazel  

 

 

 

 

Sent from my iPhone 

 

 

On 14 Mar 2023, at 2:20 pm, Cantley,Patrick <Patrick.Cantley@wyre.gov.uk> wrote: 

  
Dear Hazel,  
  
Thank you for your continued patience and sincere apologies I am only just getting back to you 
regarding this matter.  
As you are aware the body responsible for minimising or preventing the risk of pollution of the 
environment or of harm to human health have objected to your proposed temporary event notice in 
June 2023. I am aware that you were sent notice of their objection on the evening of Monday 6th 
March 2023 and so the basis of their objection should be sufficiently. There are two routes forward 
from this point. You can either have this matter determined via a hearing before our Licensing 
Committee or you can withdraw your notice to consider alternative options.  
If you decide to have this matter put before the Licensing Committee you should note that there are 
specific regulations that govern timescales, their adjustment and the procedure to be followed at 
the time of hearing.  
  
In the first instance can you please indicate your preferred route forward and then once I am clearer 
I will be in a firmer position to make any necessary arrangements.  
  
Thanks,  
  
Patrick   

Patrick Cantley 
Senior Licensing Officer 

 

Licensing 

01253 887281  

Patrick.Cantley@wyre.gov.uk  

www.wyre.gov.uk  

                

Wyre Council ,  

Poulton-le-Fylde  FY6 7PU 
Read our email disclaimer here 

 

Email disclaimer 

Emails contain information intended for the addressee only. It may be confidential and may be the subject of legal and/or 

professional privilege. 

Page 131

mailto:Patrick.Cantley@wyre.gov.uk
mailto:Patrick.Cantley@wyre.gov.uk
https://www.wyre.gov.uk/
http://wyre.gov.uk/disclaimer
https://www.wyre.gov.uk/
https://url6.mailanyone.net/scanner?m=1pe0mm-0003Td-5E&d=4%7Cmail%2F90%2F1679262000%2F1pe0mm-0003Td-5E%7Cin6f%7C57e1b682%7C10356808%7C12137228%7C641781A0391229A5CAAED59B59AB080F&o=wphtw%2F%2Fwt%3Aoc.f.bokaee%2Fcooyrcmwlicnu&s=uK0bdsbK6q-w0y8YvbK76rsH4YY
https://url6.mailanyone.net/scanner?m=1pe0mm-0003Td-5E&d=4%7Cmail%2F90%2F1679262000%2F1pe0mm-0003Td-5E%7Cin6f%7C57e1b682%7C10356808%7C12137228%7C641781A0391229A5CAAED59B59AB080F&o=%2Fphtw%3A%2Fwtsdiw.nkeilnmm.cacopo%2F-wnyoreb%2Fyogron-cuuhlic&s=T8gnKytNgirSLeawi1JpA7sFPsc
https://url6.mailanyone.net/scanner?m=1pe0mm-0003Td-5E&d=4%7Cmail%2F90%2F1679262000%2F1pe0mm-0003Td-5E%7Cin6f%7C57e1b682%7C10356808%7C12137228%7C641781A0391229A5CAAED59B59AB080F&o=wphtw%2F%2Fwt%3Ari.tcte.wtcwomureo%2Fylicn&s=zehOWPulWsBX6lLDDpSdNdN59n0


If you are not the intended recipient, any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the email and/or any attachment is 

strictly prohibited. 

Any views expressed by the sender of the message are not necessarily those of Wyre Council. They may be personal or 

contain personal opinions and therefore cannot be taken to be an expression of Wyre Council's position. 

If you have received a transmission in error, please use the reply function to tell us and permanently delete the message. 

Please note: Incoming and outgoing email messages are routinely monitored for compliance with our policy on the use of 

electronic communications. Wyre Council scans outgoing emails for viruses and it is your responsibility to carry out any 

checks before opening the email and/or attachments.  
 

 

Page 132



Late Appendix   
 

 
 
From: Hazel Stansfield  
Sent: 19 March 2023 21:43 
To: Cantley,Patrick <Patrick.Cantley@wyre.gov.uk>; Courtenage, Daphne 
<Daphne.Courtenage@wyre.gov.uk>; Grimshaw, Mary <Mary.Grimshaw@wyre.gov.uk>; Clayton, 
Nick <Nick.Clayton@wyre.gov.uk>; Clarke, Wayne <Wayne.Clarke@wyre.gov.uk> 
Subject: Fwd: Properties potentially affected by the event licence 

 

  

This email is from an external email address  

Do not click any links or open attachments unless you know the content is safe.  

Never disclose your user details or password to anyone. 

Hello Patrick,   

 

Further to my previous email please find supporting email from Myerscough College.  

 

Many Thanks  

Hazel  

Sent from my iPhone 

 

Begin forwarded message: 

From: "Price, Sarah"  

Date: 18 March 2023 at 11:58:37 am GMT 

To:  

Subject: Properties potentially affected by the event licence 

  

Hi Hazel, 
 
I have reviewed the properties in the vicinity of the event you have planned with us on 
24th June 2023. I am writing to confirm that the following properties are owned and 
occupied by Myerscough College and would, therefore, be unaffected by any noise caused 
by your event: 

  Lodge House (opposite) 
  Oakdene (opposite side of the road approximately 200m from the event) 
  East and West Cottages (adjacent to the event site) 
  The row of cottages to the west of the event are approximately 400m away (as the 

crow flies) and the first one of this row is also owned and occupied by Myerscough. 
  Lee Farm is approximately 700m to the south; owned and occupied by Myerscough. 

Ashlea and Brookfield Manor are on the same road and close to Oakdene but further away. 

Page 133



 
I hope this is helpful. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Sarah. 
 

Myerscough College & University Centre 

Sarah Price 
Director of Commercial Services 
Bilsborrow, Preston, Lancashire, PR3 0RY 
Tel:  
Mob:  
Web: https://url6.mailanyone.net/scanner?m=1pe0nk-0004Yr-
4N&d=4%7Cmail%2F90%2F1679262000%2F1pe0nk-0004Yr-
4N%7Cin6f%7C57e1b682%7C10356808%7C12137228%7C641781DC46FCE7B0502B73C9685855
DC&o=wphtw%2F%2Fwt%3Aoe.mgscuyr%2Fku.ca.h&s=kYB692q_eHcq-xSz7kzdUygHZxI 
 

 

 

Page 134

https://url6.mailanyone.net/scanner?m=1pe0nk-0004Yr-4N&d=4%7Cmail%2F90%2F1679262000%2F1pe0nk-0004Yr-4N%7Cin6f%7C57e1b682%7C10356808%7C12137228%7C641781DC46FCE7B0502B73C9685855DC&o=wphtw%2F%2Fwt%3Aoe.mgscuyr%2Fku.ca.h&s=kYB692q_eHcq-xSz7kzdUygHZxI
https://url6.mailanyone.net/scanner?m=1pe0nk-0004Yr-4N&d=4%7Cmail%2F90%2F1679262000%2F1pe0nk-0004Yr-4N%7Cin6f%7C57e1b682%7C10356808%7C12137228%7C641781DC46FCE7B0502B73C9685855DC&o=wphtw%2F%2Fwt%3Aoe.mgscuyr%2Fku.ca.h&s=kYB692q_eHcq-xSz7kzdUygHZxI
https://url6.mailanyone.net/scanner?m=1pe0nk-0004Yr-4N&d=4%7Cmail%2F90%2F1679262000%2F1pe0nk-0004Yr-4N%7Cin6f%7C57e1b682%7C10356808%7C12137228%7C641781DC46FCE7B0502B73C9685855DC&o=wphtw%2F%2Fwt%3Aoe.mgscuyr%2Fku.ca.h&s=kYB692q_eHcq-xSz7kzdUygHZxI
https://url6.mailanyone.net/scanner?m=1pe0nk-0004Yr-4N&d=4%7Cmail%2F90%2F1679262000%2F1pe0nk-0004Yr-4N%7Cin6f%7C57e1b682%7C10356808%7C12137228%7C641781DC46FCE7B0502B73C9685855DC&o=wphtw%2F%2Fwt%3Aoe.mgscuyr%2Fku.ca.h&s=kYB692q_eHcq-xSz7kzdUygHZxI

	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of minutes
	4 Unmet Demand Survey
	LVSA 2022 Wyre Demand Survey Final Report

	5 Temporary Event Notice - Lancashire College Of Agriculture, St Michaels Road, Bilsborrow on 24th and 25th June 2023
	Appendix 1 - TEN000157
	Appendix 2 - Information submitted in support of event notice
	Appendix 3 - Environmental Protection Objection
	Appendix 4
	Late Appendix




